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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars give in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Prime Intelligence
Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2019.

LISTING

On 14 February 2018, the Company was successfully listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing”). The Listing has laid a foundation for the
Group’s continuous development.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a provider of biometrics identification solutions in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. The Group markets itself using the brand “Solution
Expert”. The Group markets its products through the sales of products which
include biometrics identification devices and other devices and accessories,
and provision of auxiliary and other services. The Group’s biometrics
identification devices have one or more of the following functions: face
identification; fingerprint identification; finger vein identification; hand geometry
identification; and iris identification.

The Group would like to share more details of the Group’s performance,
financial position and other information for the year ended 31 March 2019 with
shareholders in the following section of management discussion and analysis.

PROSPECTS

Apart from our commitment to the development of our principal business, we
will actively make progress to generate growth and strive for potential and new
business opportunities. The Group plans to further its growth in existing
business by strengthening its marketing capabilities and expanding its product
portfolio through enhancing software development, with a view to further
enlarging its market share in Hong Kong and Macau and becoming one of the
active biometrics identification solutions providers in the PRC. As such, the
Group plans to utilise the net proceeds from the Listing by way of share offer
on (i) expanding the business in Southern China; (i) improving its information
technology system; and (iii) setting up a new and separate software
development center in the PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s
software.

With utilising our prevailing biometrics identification solutions and software
development, we consider to boarden our product range by developing
certain consumer products with various popular functions including but not
limited to artificial intelligence.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group remains committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. All board committees have effectively supported the Board in
carrying out its responsibilities. By conducting its business under good
corporate governance, the Group’s and shareholder’s long term interests will
be maximized.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my warmest thanks to the
management and our staff for their significant contributions. | would like to
extend my sincere gratitude to all our shareholders and investors for their
endless support. With the solid business base and the effort of all staff, the
Group will endeavor to open a new chapter in the future.

Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony
Chairman
Hong Kong, 21 June 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

OVERVIEW

The Group is a provider of biometrics identification solutions in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. The Group derives revenue from the following business
activities: (i) sales of products which include biometrics identification devices,
and other devices and accessories; and (i) provision of auxiliary and other
services. The Group’s biometrics identification devices have one or more of
the following functions: (i) face identification; (i) fingerprint identification; (iii)
finger vein identification (iv) hand geometry identification; and (v) iris
identification. The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019
was approximately HK$50.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately
28.4% from approximately HK$71.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2018.
The decrease in revenue was mainly because the decrease in sales of
biometrics identification devices and other accessories, in particular, the
handheld devices as compared with the corresponding period in 2018.

Revenue represents the invoiced values of goods sold and services rendered,
after allowances for returns and discounts during the reporting periods.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales was costs of inventories sold. The
Group’s costs of inventories sold decreased by approximately 21.2% to
approximately HK$17.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
approximately HK$22.6 million). The gross profit margin dropped from
approximately 59.2% for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately
50.8% for the year ended 31 March 2019. The gross profit also dropped from
approximately HK$42.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$25.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. The
decrease of gross profit margin and gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease of gross profit of handheld devices.

Expenses

Staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately HK$22.9
million (2018: approximately HK$20.5 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$2.4 million as compared with the corresponding period last
year, which was mainly due to the increase in the number of employees and
increase in average bonus and allowances during the period.

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended 31 March
2019 were approximately HK$22.0 million (2018: approximately HK$29.6
million), representing an decrease of approximately HK$7.6 million as
compared with the last corresponding period, which was mainly due to the net
effect of increase in staff costs and decrease in listing expenses.

Taxes

The income tax expense comprised Hong Kong Profits Tax, Macao
Complementary Tax and PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year. The income
tax expense for the year ended 31 March 2019 was approximately HK$0.3
million (2018: HK$3.2 million).

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from the current year, one of the subsidiaries of the
Company is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 8.25% for the first
HK$2 million of estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million. Other subsidiaries of the Company are
subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% for the year ended
31 March 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the PRC is subject to
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25.0% (2018: 25.0%). No PRC
Enterprise Income Tax has been provided for the year ended 31 March 2019
(2018: Nil) as the Group’s PRC subsidiary either did not generate any
assessable profits or has sufficient tax losses brought forward to offset against
its assessable profits generated during the reporting periods.

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in Macau is subject to
Macao Complementary Tax, under which taxable income of up to
MOP600,000 is exempted from taxation with taxable income beyond this
amount to be taxed at the rate of 12.0% for the year ended 31 March 2019
and 2018.

Loss for the Year

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$1.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019, as compared with a net profit of approximately HK$4.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2018. The decrease of net profit was
mainly due to the decrease of over 25% in revenue generated from the sales
of biometrics identification devices and other accessories, in particular, the
handheld devices as compared with the corresponding period in 2018.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Historically, the Group has funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows, bank borrowings and funds from the
listing of the Company’s shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange. The Directors
believe that with the capital from the listing of Shares on GEM, the Group is in
a healthy financial position to expand its core business and to achieve its
business objectives. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no bank borrowings
(81 March 2018: Nil). The Group requires cash primarily for working capital
needs. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had approximately HK$70.3 million in
cash and bank balances (31 March 2018: approximately HK$76.8 million).

Gearing Ratio
As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group has no outstanding borrowings,

accordingly there is no gearing ratio.

Note: Gearing ratio is calculated as the total debt divided by total equity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

OPERATION REVIEW

Outlook

The ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) of the Company have
been successfully listed on GEM on 14 February 2018. The Board considers
that such public listing status will allow the Company to gain access to the
capital market for corporate finance exercise, assist the Company in the future
business development, enhance the Group’s corporate profile and recognition
and strengthen the Group’s competitiveness.

Looking forward, the Group plans to generate further growth in existing
business by strengthening its marketing capabilities and expanding its product
portfolio through enhancing software development, with a view to further
enlarging its market share in Hong Kong and Macau and becoming one of the
active biometrics identification solutions providers in the PRC. As such, the
Group plans to utilise the net proceeds from the Listing by way of share offer
pursuant to the Prospectus on (i) launching of affordable locally manufactured
fingerprint identification devices as part of the expansion plan of the business
in Southern China; (ii) enhancing the quality of after-sale services and
strengthening of the operation support as part of the expansion plan of the
business in Southern China; (jii) improving its information technology system;
and (iv) setting up a new and separate software development center in the
PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s software.

With utilising our prevailing biometrics identification solutions and software
development, we consider to boarden our product range by developing
certain consumer products with various popular functions including but not
limited to artificial intelligence.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 70 employees. The Group’s
staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$22.9 million (2018: approximately HK$20.5 million). The Group’s
remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market practice and are
determined on the basis of performance, qualification and experience of
individual employee. The Group recognises the importance of a good
relationship with its employees. The remuneration payable to its employees
includes salaries and allowances. Other benefits and incentives include training
and share option.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employees have participated in the mandatory
provident fund prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In the PRC, the Group’s
employees have participated in the basic pension insurance, basic medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, occupational injury insurance, maternity
insurance prescribed by the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({1 £ A R £ F1
T & 1R B 7% )), and housing fund prescribed by the Regulations on the
Administration of Housing Fund ({ {£ 5 2 & & & 2 % il )). All PRC based
employees have the right to participate in the social insurance and housing
provident fund schemes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

Capital expenditure

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to
approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
approximately HK$0.7 million).

Capital commitments
The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31 March
2019 (2018: Nil).

Foreign Currency Risk
The Company does not have significant exposure on foreign currency risk.

The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally denominated in
HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”) and Macau Pataca (“MOP”). The Group has certain
exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of respective Group entities such as United States dollars (‘US$”),
RMB and EURO. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities.

The Group did not engage in any derivatives agreement and did not commit to
any financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the
year ended 31 March 2019.

Significant Investments held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals
of Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any significant
investment, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.

Charges over Assets of the Group
As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, there was no charges over assets of the
Group.

Dividend
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Share Option Schemes

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 18
January 2018 for the primary purpose is to attract, retain and motivate
talented participants, to strive for future developments and expansion of the
Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any employees, any
executives Directors, non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors), advisors, consultants of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

The Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the date on which the Scheme is adopted, after which period
no further share options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
in all other respects remain in full force and effect and share options which are
granted during the life of the Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue. The principal terms of which were
summarised in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in Appendix
IV to the Prospectus. No share options have been granted, exercised, expired,
cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme since its adoption.

Use of proceeds and actual progress of the Group’s business
objectives

The net proceeds from the Listing (after deducting the underwriting fees and
other related expenses paid by the Company in connection with the share
offer) which amounted to approximately HK$44.5 million will be used for the
intended purposes as set out in the section headed “Business Objectives
and Strategies” of the Prospectus. Set out below is the actual usage of net
proceeds up to the date of this report:

ZetE BN Z B ERAZ B 10FHREES AR - &
BASBROBRE - BRETINGESEMRA b7 Em&iD
2EAER  MANZAEBRARNE RN BREREE T
RN AT AR TTE - AT BN E R R BN R ERM
S0 [RBARREST &I — Bt - BRXGBIERANSAK - BUEEE I E
RBZET IR 1768 i~ FESER -

FERERERAEEEREENERER

ETARABHIEFE(NREHERARRREN B E XN
HpEEMR) O R44BEET  BRERRERTZ
BEBRRER] —fHMERERSE - LTHHAEEARE
REIRIEMSFRFENER AR

Net proceeds Utilised Unutilised
IS RIEFHE 28A % Kk &) A
HK$ million HKS$ million HKS$ million
BEAT BEET ER-
Expanding the business in MREREEXK
Southern China
— launch of affordable locally — A R ] B PER AL
manufactured fingerprint HREE
identification devices 15.8 - 15.8
— enhancement of the quality of — REEEREHNEE RN
after-sales services and HELE
strengthening of
the operation support 5.1 (1.5) 3.6
Improving the information BOEERBR RS
technology system 5.0 (1.7) 3.3
Setting up a new and separate A B 3% 3L — 1B ¥ 89 % ST R4 B 3
software development center FONE—SRARMREERESR
in the PRC to further enhance BB
and develop the Group’s software 15.2 - 15.2
Working capital HEAS 3.4 (3.4) -
445 6.6) 37.9
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group’s business objectives are to further
its growth in existing business by strengthening marketing capabilities and
expanding product portfolio through enhancing software development, in
order to further enlarge its market share in Hong Kong and Macau and to
become one of the active biometrics identification solutions providers in the
PRC. The Directors intend to achieve the objectives by (i) launching affordable
locally manufactured fingerprint identification devices as part of the expansion
plan of the business in Southern China; (i) enhancing the quality of after-sales
services and strengthening the operation support as part of the expansion
plan of the business in Southern China; (iii) improving the information
technology system; and (iv) setting up a new and separate software
development center in the PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s
software.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$15.8 million of net proceeds
to launch affordable locally manufactured fingerprint identification devices as
part of the expansion plan of the business in Southern China. The Group has
not yet launch affordable locally manufactured fingerprint identification devices.
The Group is reviewing the needs and timeframe for launch of affordable
locally manufactured fingerprint identification devices so as to capture the
above-mentioned low-end market in the PRC.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$5.1 million of net proceeds
to enhance the quality of after-sales services and to strengthen the operation
support as part of the expansion plan of the business in Southern China. As at
31 March 2019, a total of approximately HK$1.5 million was spent on
enhancing the quality of after-sales services and to strengthen the operation
support as part of the expansion plan of the business in Southern China. The
Group has rented one customer service centers in Futian district of Shenzhen
instead of Changning district of Shanghai, the Directors consider that the
Group customers are mainly located in Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Macao,
locating the customer service center in Shenzhen can help timely after-sales
services. The service center will also benefit from the business opportunities
with the recent development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong- Macao Greater
Bay Area, enabling the Group to provide sales-related services arises from the
development. The Group also employed additional employees for this service
center.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$5.0 million of net proceeds
to improve the information technology system. As at 31 March 2019, a total of
approximately HK$1.7 million was spent on improving the information
technology system. The Group has upgraded the existing ERP system,
including the customer relationship management function and purchased
computer and servers to support the existing ERP system.

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$15.2 million of net proceeds
to set up a new and separate software development center in the PRC to
further enhance and develop the Group’s software. The Group is reviewing the
needs and timeframe for setting up a new and separate software development
center in the PRC to further enhance and develop the Group’s software.

The Group had planned to use approximately HK$3.4 million of net proceeds

to working capital. As at 31 March 2019, a total of approximately HK$3.4
million was spent on working capital.

14

REEFFBAN15.28 BB THMEFRFRR T ER
S EFT BB R B O A — R R E AR B
o AEERERNEEH RN BRI — BB
MR - TR ERBR - UE -SRI RREARE
EIEEAE

AEEFESENAEEL NS RBFEELAEES
© o R2019F3A31 A ARNASABTBBTLAELER

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2019



Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (“Mr. Tony Yuen”), aged 48, is one of the
founders of the Group, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the
chief executive officer of the Group and one of the controlling shareholders of
the Company. He joined the Group as a director on 28 June 1999 and was
re-designated as an executive Director on 6 November 2015. He is
responsible for major decision-making, overall strategic planning and day-to-
day business management. Mr. Tony Yuen is a director of Power Truth
Holdings Limited (“Power Truth”), Solution Expert Technology Limited (“SE
Technology”), Solution Expert Engineering Limited (“SE Engineering”),
Solution Expert Technology (R&D) Limited, and Solution Expert Technology
(Macau) Limited (“SE Macau”). He is also the chairman, general manager and
legal representative of Solution Expert Technology (Shenzhen) Limited* (“SE
Shenzhen”). In addition, he is a director and a 85% shareholder of Delighting
View Global Limited (“Delighting View”).

Mr. Tony Yuen has over 21 years of experience in software programming. He
obtained a bachelor of engineering degree from the University of Hong Kong
in January 1995. Before he joined the Group, he was the head of information
systems department of PENTAX group in Hong Kong from 1996 to 1998, and
was responsible for developing networking and computer solution systems in
different computerisation projects. Mr. Tony Yuen has not held any
directorship in any other public companies, the securities of which are or have
been listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past
three years.

Mr. Tony Yuen is a brother of Ms. Pauline Yuen (one of the executive Directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company), the spouse of Ms. Jazzy \Wong
(@ member of the senior management) and a brother-in-law of Mr. Joseph
Yam (the non-executive Director).

Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline (“Ms. Pauline Yuen”), aged 50, is an executive
Director and one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. She was re-
designated as an executive Director on 6 November 2015 and is mainly
responsible for overseeing corporate policies and human resources of the
Group. She is a director of Power Truth, SE Shenzhen and SE Macau. In
addition, she is also a director and a 15% shareholder of Delighting View.

* Demonstrates the English translation name of a Chinese company or entity and
provided for identification purposes only
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEERE

Ms. Pauline Yuen has over 27 years of experience in accounting, during which
she has also obtained over 10 years of experience in finance and
management. She obtained a bachelor of science degree in business
administration and accounting from the California State University in the United
States in August 1992. She worked in Wing On Department Stores (Hong
Kong) Limited from November 1992 to April 1994, with her last position being
assistant accountant. She then worked in China Online (Bermuda) Limited,
from April 1994 to September 1999, with her last position being senior
accountant. She was the accounting manager of Tricom CyberWorld Holdings
Limited from September 1999 to December 2000. From September 2001 to
January 2006, she worked in Hing Wah Lung Oil & Rice Limited with her last
positing being the accounting and administration manager. She was employed
by Pacific Century Matrix (HK) Limited from February 2006 to May 2007 with
her last position being manager, finance and administration and was mainly
responsible for management of treasury function and finance and accounting
operations.

Ms. Pauline Yuen joined the Group in May 2007 as manager in finance and
administration department and was subsequently transferred to senior
manager in human resources and administration in May 2015. She was
responsible for overseeing human resources activities.

Ms. Pauline Yuen is the sister of Mr. Tony Yuen (one of the executive Directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company) and a sister-in-law of Mr.
Joseph Yam (the non-executive Director) and Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member of
the senior management).

Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle (“Ms. Danielle Sun”), aged 56, was appointed
as an executive Director on 6 November 2015. Ms. Danielle Sun is mainly
responsible for overseeing the sales and marketing functions of the Group.
She is also a director of Power Truth.

Ms. Danielle Sun has over 10 years of treasury experience in catering industry.
From August 2000 to June 2007 (the date of deregistration), she was a
director of Boss Development Limited, a company engaged in catering
business, and was responsible for cash and transaction management. From
May 2004 to December 2015 (the date of deregistration), Ms. Danielle Sun
was the director of Hung Kee Enterprise Limited and was responsible for
managing its property portfolio and assisting the board in making property
investment decisions. She has also been the treasurer of Wonderland Palace
Restaurant on part time basis since August 2011 and has been responsible
for cash and transaction management. From April 2004 to January 2011, Ms.
Danielle Sun was employed as the treasurer of Zi Xing Xuan (£ £ #f), a
Chinese restaurant, and was responsible for cash and transaction
management.

Since joining the Group, Ms. Danielle Sun has been in charge of the overall
sales and marketing of the Group by leading the sales department to formulate
and execute the Group’s sales and marketing strategies. She is also personally
responsible for the sales to the catering sector.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph (“Mr. Joseph Yam”), aged 64, was appointed
as an executive Director on 6 November 2015 and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director on 1 April 2017. He is mainly responsible for providing
market and industry knowledge in assisting strategic planning of the Group.

Mr. Joseph Yam dedicated his career to the Hong Kong Police Force for over
32 years. He began as a probationary inspector in 1977, and was
subsequently promoted to senior inspector in 1987 and to chief inspector in
1990. In 2004, he was further promoted to superintendent, the rank he held
until his retirement in December 2009. Mr. Joseph Yam was employed by
Hong Yip Service Company Ltd., a subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai Properties Ltd.,
as head of security and was responsible for the overall management, business
development, profitability and operations of its security department, since
June 2010. Mr. Joseph Yam has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Kingland Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sing
on Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1751), a company providing concrete demolition
services in Hong Kong and Macau, since 22 November 2016.

Mr. Joseph Yam is the brother-in-law of Mr. Tony Yuen (one of the executive
Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company), Ms. Jazzy Wong (a
member of the senior management) and Ms. Pauline Yuen (one of the
executive Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mui Pak Kuen (“Mr. Mui”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He is responsible for overseeing
the management independently and providing independent judgement on the
issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct of the
Group.

Mr. Mui has over 30 years of experience in information technology and
telecommunication industry. He first joined COL Limited as an analyst
programmer from July 1986 to January 1990. From February 1990 to June
1992, he worked as a consultant in Logica Limited. Mr. Mui was a senior
consultant in Hutchison Paging Limited from October 1992 to March 1994
and was mainly responsible for liaising with business partners in application
specification. He then worked in Hutchison Telecommunications (Hong Kong)
Limited from April 1994 to October 1997 as the information technology
manager for the fixed network operation and was mainly responsible for
leading the fixed network IT project team for product evaluation, development
and implementation. Mr. Mui was then employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers
from August 1998 to December 1999 as a supervising consultant. He later
worked as the assistant vice-president in business development in PCCW
Limited from January 2000 to July 2011. From July 2011 to January 2017, he
was the head of Greater China business development in Tiaxa International
Company Limited.

Mr. Mui obtained a diploma in business computer studies from the Faculty of
Business in Lingnan College Hong Kong in November 1986. He subsequently
obtained a master of economics degree in business administration from
Zhongshan University in the PRC in January 1998 and further obtained a
bachelor of computing degree from the University of South Australia in
September 2004.

Mr. Chung Billy (“Mr. Chung”), aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He is responsible for overseeing
the management independently and providing independent judgement on the
issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct of the
Group.

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor of arts degree in chartered accountancy
studies from The University of Waterloo, Canada in June 1999. He further
obtained a master of business administration degree from the University of
Toronto, Canada in June 2004. Mr. Chung also obtained a diploma in
investigative and forensic accounting from the University of Toronto
Mississauga in 2013 and completed a business analytics certificate
programme, which is an online distance learning course, from the
Northwestern University, the United States, in August 2016.
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Mr. Chung has over 9 years of management experience. Mr. Chung worked
as an assistant manager in H.C. Watt & Company Limited in Hong Kong from
August 2005 to July 2006 and was mainly responsible for assisting in the initial
public offering auditing. In June 2007, Mr. Chung was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Culturecom Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0343),
and was subsequently redesignated as an executive director in November
2007. He resigned from Culturecom Holdings Limited in September 2016.
From August 2013 to January 2017, Mr. Chung was the senior advisor of
WTM Company Limited, a software development company in Hong Kong, and
was responsible for advising on business strategies and development. Since
November 2016, Mr. Chung has been the general manager of GoAnimate
Hong Kong Limited and is responsible for its business development activities
in the Asia-Pacific region.

Mr. Chung was admitted as an accredited chartered accountant under The
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada in November 2001 and
re-designated as a chartered professional accountant in November 2012. He
was also admitted as a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in June 2010. Mr. Chung is further granted as the certified
fraud examiner by the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners, the United
States, in May 2016. He was also certified by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the United States, to be certified in financial
forensics (CFF) in August 2016.

Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui”), aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He is responsible for
overseeing the management independently and providing independent
judgement on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct of the Group.

Mr. Hui obtained a bachelor of business degree in banking and finance from
Monash University, Australia in April 2003 and further obtained two master’s
degrees in applied finance and practicing accounting from Monash University,
Australia in November 2004 and November 2007 respectively. He was
admitted as a member of CPA Australia in July 2009.
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EENEAREEERE

Mr. Hui has over 13 years of experience in corporate finance, financial
management and accounting. He worked in audit field for over 5 years. He
joined Grant Thornton, an international audit firm, from November 2006 to May
2010 and was responsible for professional engagements including but not
limited to annual audits, interim reviews, initial public offerings and very
substantial acquisition transactions. From July 2010 to December 2013, he
joined a corporate consultancy company as a consultant to provide
professional services including but not limited to preparing statutory
documents and ensuring the documents comply with the HKFRSs. Mr. Hui
was employed by Zhongda International Holdings Limited as an assistant
financial controller from July 2010 to July 2017 and was mainly responsible for
preparing group consolidation financial statements, announcements and
circulars and also participating in financial matters of various projects. The
listing of shares of Zhongda International Holdings Limited on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange was cancelled on 8 March 2019. Mr. Hui has been an
independent non-executive director of Upbest Group Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0335), a
company principally engaged in provision of financial services, since July
2012. From August 2017 to January 2019, Mr. Hui was employed as the
company secretary of Cocoon Holdings Limited (formerly known as Huge
China Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 428). From March 2018 to June 2018, Mr. Hui was a
non-executive director of Cocoon Holdings Limited. Mr. Hui has been the
company secretary, authorised representative and process agent of On Real
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM, stock code: 8245),
a company providing two-way radio product designer are manufacturer, since
February 2019.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Ka Man, Jazzy (“Ms. Jazzy Wong”), aged 40, is the senior
manager of SE Engineering and is responsible for assisting Ms. Danielle Sun in
conducting the Group’s sales and marketing. She is also a director of SE
Shenzhen. Ms. Jazzy Wong obtained a bachelor of arts degree in computing
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2004. Prior to joining
the Group, she worked at South China Media Limited as web developer in the
online department from July 2000 to September 2000. She joined SE
Engineering in October 2000.

Ms. Jazzy Wong is the spouse of Mr. Tony Yuen (one of the executive
Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company), and a sister-in-law of
Ms. Pauline Yuen (one of the executive Directors and controlling shareholders
of the Company) and Mr. Joseph Yam (the non-executive Director).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEERE

Mr. Chou Chiu Ho (“Mr. Chou”), aged 37, is the company secretary and
financial controller of the Group, and is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting, financial planning, financial control and company secretarial
matters. He first joined as the company secretary of SE Technology in
September 2015 and was subsequently promoted as the company secretary
and financial controller in November 2016. He was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company in November 2015. Mr. Chou has interests, within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, in 35,100,000
shares of the Company, representing approximately 4.39% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

Mr. Chou has over 10 years of experience in accounting and auditing. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chou worked in an accounting firm from September
2003 to January 2006, with his last position being semi-senior auditor. He
then joined PricewaterhouseCoopers from January 2006 to December 2010.
From January 2011 to March 2012, Mr. Chou worked as the head of
corporate services of Beijing Sports and Entertainment Industry Group Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1803) (formerly known as ASR Logistics Holdings Limited). Since April 2013,
Mr. Chou has been working as the financial controller and company secretary
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM, stock
code: 8147) (“MP Group”). Mr. Chou resigned as the financial controller and
the company secretary of MP Group in September 2014 and March 2017
respectively. Mr. Chou also served as the chief financial officer of HF Financial
Group Limited and subsequently transferred to HF Management (China)
Limited from January 2015 to July 2016. Since September 2017, Mr. Chou
has been the director of Archon Prime Strategic Investment (Group) Limited.

Mr. Chou obtained a bachelor of arts degree in accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003. Mr. Chou was admitted as a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant in
November 2011. He was also admitted as a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in November 2010 and subsequently a fellow
member in November 2015.
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BACKGROUND

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempt company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law, (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands on 16 October 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in sales of biometrics identification devices and
security products and provision of application software and repair and
maintenance services during the year ended 31 March 2019 which is
same as those of last year. The Company is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 14 February 2018 (stock code: 8379).

This Review covers the Group’s overall performance in two subject
areas, namely, Environmental and Social of the business operations in
Hong Kong office for the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
(the “Period under Review”), unless otherwise stated.

FOREWORD

The Group primarily adopts the principles and basis of the ESG Guide
as set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, with an aim to
establish a sound environmental, social and governance structure. This
Review has complied with the “Comply or explain” provisions of the
ESG Guide.

This report comprises the review of environmental, social and
governance areas, which sets out the Company and its major
subsidiaries’ policies and practices in respect of three environmental
aspects and eight social aspects in accordance with ESG Guide for the
Period under Review. This report is designed to allow the Company’s
stakeholders, such as shareholders, investors, customers, suppliers,
employees, creditors, regulators and the general public to have
comprehensive understanding of the long-term sustainability information
of the Group. The Group seeks to balance the views and interests of
these stakeholders through constructive conversation with a view to
setting the course for long term prosperity. The Board is responsible for
evaluating and determining the environmental, social and governance
risks of the Group, and ensuring that relevant risk management and
internal control systems are in place and operate effectively.
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The table underneath showed aspects on the ESG Guide to be

assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be material to the EAYHAEEMSBEANESGHEE -

Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in ESG Guide
(ESGHREIESI)PFIHESGEE

Material ESG issues to the Group
HEAKEENSEEXNESGEE

TRIT(ESGHERSDTHBEFENET - AR E

(A)  Environmental

(A) RIE
Al
Al
A2
A2
A3
A3
Social
e
B1
B1
B2
B2
B3
B3
B4
B4
B5
B5
B6
B6
B7
B7
B8
B8

T

Emissions

B

Use of Resources

EIRfEA

Environment and Natural Resources
RERRAER

Employment and Labour Practices
RIS TER

Health and Safety
R R
Development and Training
R RIE

Labour Standards
TR

Supply Chain Management
HrEgRE s

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption

RES

Community Involvement

HEEE

ZEEMREBARAF / F#2019

Electricity consumption
Use of energy and paper
BEIR R AR SR V{2 R

Labour practices

BIER

Workplace health and safety

TIESRMERREZ

Employee development and training

8 T 3R RIE

Anti-child and forced labour

REIK&HIZT

Supply chain management

frEEEIR

Product responsibility

EmEE

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering
REF - REFERRO%E

Community programs, employee volunteering and donation
HEES BTEBEERIBE
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BE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Environmental protection is one of the core values of the Group. The
Group has proactively looked for and implemented new technology at
various stages of its business in order to minimise its impact on the
environment. The Group’s products are designed to be safe and
environmental friendly for customer use, meaning recyclable and safe to
dispose materials are specified in its designs, and clean production
processes are adopted in its business process. Moreover, unnecessary
packaging that can cause harm to environment is not introduced into its
products.

The Group considers environmental protection an essential component
of sustainable and responsible business. The Group strives to negative
impacts on the environment and to seek environmental friendly methods
of operation. Given the nature of the Group’s business, electricity was
the most significant resources consumed in Hong Kong, Macau and
Shenzhen, the PRC during the Period under Review.

The Current Environmental Policies

The Group’s main task is to measure and report the efforts in reducing
carbon footprints, promote waste reduction at source, enhance its
waste disposal management and set targets on environmental
performance. To minimise the environmental impacts concerning the
activities, products and services, the Group will:

o Comply with applicable legal requirements and other
requirements which relate to the Group’s environmental aspects,
and to which the Group subscribes;

o Identify environmental impacts associated with the operations
and set the targets to reduce stress on the environment in
consideration of social expectations;

o Prevent pollution, reduce waste and minimise the consumption
of resources from all daily operations and actively promote
recycle, reuse and replace;

o Educate, train and motivate employees to develop a social
viewpoint that enables them to conduct business activities in an
environmentally responsible manner.

ﬁﬂi
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The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated in
compliance with the following laws and regulations which have
significant impact:

a. the Law of the PRC on Import and Export Commodity Inspection
(FREE AR AFBISE H O RIRERE),

b. Guangdong Province are governed by Guangdong Safety
Technology and Prevention Regulation & 3 & % & £ iy €6 &
BB,

c.  Product Quality Law of the PRC (R EA R LB EREE5%),

d.  Environmental Protection Law of the PRC { 2 A R MR IE
REERD,

e. the Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Noise Pollution {F 2 A R 2 FI B IRIF IR 5 L4 055875),

f. the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes ¢ 72 A B £ F1E & 22
RS RRIBNIAED,

g. the Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection 2% 18 B IRIERE B IZEH), and

h. the Anti-terrorian Law of the People’s Republic of China { # A

R A B & 24 = % 7% ) and Guangdong Safety Technology
and Prevent ion Regulation &8 4 & 2 H i b &6 Z 12 15401

ZEEMREBARAF / F#2019
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A1.1 Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption Al.1 REMRELEFENBERE R
During the Period under Review, the key environmental impacts REEHA - AEBZEEPHNERIR f%?é%/‘%
from the Group’s operations were energy and paper LR RAMRER - AERIRFIRE - ~NEE
consumption. To achieve environmental protection, the Group BEITHEMFEREFHRE iﬁ%ﬁﬁ*ﬁhm’;
encourages employees increase the use of e-statement or ED - BUR A #RsRE A MR EREBHIN : SET
scanning instead of traditional photocopying to reduce the use of VEB&ERE - BEMAE SN AR E (R
paper and greenhouse gas emissions; to switch-off all computers A ZEH) -

and office equipment (such as lighting and air-conditioner) at the
end of each working day.

a) Since the Group did not have town fuel and town gas a) AP ZN 52 B 74 [0 B8 HA (A I #8 H AR S T A
consumption during the Period under Review, therefore no B Rk T RUES - M A FE A B &
emissions data applied. % o

b) the Company had certain motor vehicles during the Period b) REEBEHN  AREHEE T8 - &
under Review, the emissions data applied to the Group’s ARASLBEREN R EIESHS AT

motor vehicles are set out below:

Key Performance Index (“KPI”)
BRENER ((BRREXEED

% increase/

2019 2018 Unit (decrease)
i CrA)

20194 2018 F By ZHEAE %

NOx 72 321 Grams (78%)
BElm )

SOx 137 623 Grams (78%)
maty )

PM 5 24 Grams (78%)
A ARG RERLY) )

Total 214 968 Grams (78%)
Mg )
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emission

A1.2 BERBEHK

KPI
BERENER
% increase/
2019 2018 Unit (decrease)
#n, CR)
2019 2018 F By ZBEDE%
Scope 1
E1
Direct Emission 25,093 114,196 Kg (78%)
BHEHR AR
Scope 2
gE2
Indirect Emission 47,003 47,998 Kg (2%)
B HEL NI
Scope 3
#E3
Other indirect Emission 9,147 3,737 Kg 145%
H A HER NI
Total 81,243 165,931 Kg (51%)
e N

During the Period under Review, there were 81,243 kg (2018:
165,931 kg) of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases
(mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide) emitted from
the Group’s operation.

The total gross floor area coverage for the Group during the Period
under Review was 1,161 m? (2018: 900 m?). The annual emission
intensity was 72.6 Kg CO, e/m? (2018: 184.4 Kg CO, e/m?).

The decrease of above was mainly due to efficient environmental
control during the Period under Review as a result of the increase
of the Group’s awareness on environmental protection.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste of the Group during the Period under Review. In addition,
no significant fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been reported
in the Period under Review.

ZEEMREBARAF / F#2019
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A1.3 Non-hazardous Waste

A2

28

The Group generates no hazardous waste in its operation.
However, there were non-hazardous waste arose from the use of
electricity under the Group’s operation but the management of
the Group believed that these non-hazardous waste would be
insignificant.

Use of resource

A1.3 BEREEY

REFBESEBREPIELAEEEY  BF
AEBZETHRNERE I MELBEEREE
Yo AMAKREEEERELERERRYE

A2 BRER
The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business KETMBHREARER DML EHHIEn
activities on the environment, and supporting environmental B, W IFIDIE (R E BRI S A—
protection programmes. In particular, a number of initiatives RINEEMOERNEE  UESEIHER
designed to conserve resources were introduced to promote BERBEMABEENED -
employee awareness of the need to achieve efficient utilisation of
resources.
Nl = s £, Aok S 4 oo EE—
Energy conservation will not be effective without the support of gz;ﬂfiiﬁﬂi ;;g%fﬁgrﬁzﬁzg%&
employees. The Group has been encouraging employees to - ;E;‘ o }i; igpﬁb i = PR
establish energy-saving habits at its office, such as switching off PR SAMEERET S - YREZAA
, gysaving n s Hienng BAE255F - BiE— HHNES - AEEEA
lights and electronic appliances before leaving the office, as well 2 % R 5 A 0 5 33 51 VA o
as maintains indoor temperature at 25.5°C. To further conserve
electricity, the Group has leased energy-efficient high-speed
printers for its daily operation.
During the Period under Review, the energy consumption by type REIEEA - AEBIRERE S EEEIRER
in total of the Group are showed as below: BT
KPI
BRERES
% increase/
2019 2018 Unit (decrease)
#in/CRd) z
2019 F 2018 B A%
Electricity consumed 87,043 88,885 kWh (2%)
mRER TRE
Qil consumed 108,260 492,687 kWh (78%)
HFEE TR R
Total energy consumed 195,303 581,572 kWh (66%)
HWEEIREFEE TR R
Total floor are of facilities 1,161 900 m? 29%
F B ARIEEE S 7K
Electricity consumed per square meter 168 646 kWh/m? (74%)
BERKRAEE TFREEFIK
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A3 Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group’s activities did not have direct significant impact to
the environment and natural resources beyond the resource
consumption and emissions issues discussed above. The Group
will continue to explore ways of integrating environmental
considerations into its business decisions and the services it
provides, including promoting and supporting ways to combat
climate change.

There was no non-compliance case noted in relation to
environmental laws and regulations for the Period under Review.

SOCIAL

Being a responsible business and employer, the Group are committed
to consistently looking for ways to meet the corporate social
responsibilities. The Group focuses on its staff, environment and
community as well as its business partners.

B1 Employment and Labour Practices

The Group places a significant emphasis on developing human
capital, provides competitive remuneration and welfare packages.
Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments are
benchmarked against individual performance. Employees are
entitled to benefits such as annual leave, sick leave, maternity
leave, marriage leave, funeral leave and medical coverage in
accordance with local regulations.

The Group emphasises on equal opportunities for all personnel in
respect of hiring, pay rates, training and development, promotion
and other terms of employment. The Group is committed to
providing a work environment free from any form of discrimination
on the basis of ethnicity, gender, religion, age, disability or sexual
orientation.

The Group has a wide diversity of cultures including employees
with different genders, ages, skills, educational backgrounds,
industry experiences and other qualifications in order to achieve
the most suitable composition and balance.

The Group’s remuneration package is structured with reference
to the individual performance, working experience and prevailing
salary levels in the market. In additional to basic salaries and
mandatory provident fund for the Group’s Hong Kong
employees, fringe benefits include flexible leave arrangement,
medical coverage scheme and annual dinner.

The Group complies with relevant ordinances and statutory
requirements, such as the Employment Ordinance, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the Period under
Review, the Group has had no non-compliance case regarding
violation of any laws and regulations on employment.

ZEEMREBARAF / F#2019
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The employee handbook of the Group’s PRC subsidiary had
been developed in accordance with the Labour Law of the PRC
and has been distributed to all employees since they joined. The
remuneration policies are determined on the basis of
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee.
The remuneration generally includes salaries and allowances.

During the Period under Review, the Group’s PRC subsidiary
had subscribed to those basic pension insurance, basic medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, occupational injury
insurance, maternity insurance as prescribed by the Social
Insurance Law of the PRC, as well as housing fund schemes as
prescribed by the Regulations on the Administration of Housing
Fund.

Employees’ wages, overtime payments and related benefits are
made not less than the local government’s minimum
requirements. The normal working hours for general employees
are normally 8 hours a day and 40 hours a week. Integrated
computation of working hours is implemented with reference to
the requirements of the Labour Law of the PRC.

The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated
in compliance with the following laws and regulations which have
significant impact:

a. Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the
Laws of Hong Kong),

b. Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the Laws of
Hong Kong),

C. Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of
Hong Kong),

d. Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong),

e. Construction Workers Registration Ordinance (Chapter
583 of the Laws of Hong Kong),

f. Regulatory Regime to which SE Macau is subject in
relation to Labour Matters in Macau,

g.  the Labor Law of the PRC (F#E A R £ MBI & &)k ),
h. the Labor Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisional

Regulations on Collection and Payment of Social Insurance
Premium (tt & (R BB 1T&M1), and

The Regulations on Management of Housing Provident

Fund {EE RIERE IR,
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Staff Composition

As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed a total of 70 (2018:
65) staff, including operational office, sales and marketing, and
back office division. All staff members are allocated in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

a) Employee’ s Age and Gender Distribution

AB#BK

MR2019F3A31H AEEKER70ZLET
(2018 : 65%) ' BIEEBHAE - $HE -
MHTHEBREERDE - FTELIEAEHS

IREEBIARPE -

a)  BRFREDEERILED M

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Age Group Male Female Male Female
FHrE R E z Es z
0-15 0% 0% 0% 0%
0m-155%
16-18 0% 0% 0% 0%
16 5% —18 7%
19-30 24% 6% 20% 5%
195%-30 5%
31-45 30% 10% 32% 17%
31545 5%
46-60 17% 11% 15% 9%
46 5% -60 5%
=61/>61 2% 0% 2% 0%
613%a A
Total 73% 27% 69% 31%
By
b)  Employee’ s Geographical and Gender Distribution b) Heith i & 53 7 18 B 14 B
2019 2018
2019 2018 4F

District Male Female Male Female
I [= 5 z 3 8
Hong Kong 50% 17% 55% 22%
B
The PRC 23% 10% 14% 9%
#
Total 73% 27% 69% 31%
By

TR EBBR AR/ F£32019 31
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The Group will continue to provide a well-structured and caring
environment to employees to raise their sense of belonging and
work efficiency in the Group.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare on
the Group during the Period under Review. In addition, no non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that resulted in
significant fines or sanctions had been reported during the Period

under Review.

AEEBBERB TIRUABRIF  BENR
5 URESAKEETHHEBRETFRE -

REBEEA - AEEEHEERE  BREE
T TEEERE  KREER B#EH9% 2K

T RIS K AR BB S AR LR E
A RBEREMERNEREMS © 1IN B
BIEHA - REEFETETERERENRD
BYEKE

R E RS -

Employee Health and Safety B2
The management recognises that the operational efficiency of an EEBREICENEENEHAREETH
enterprise and the maintenance of a health and safety working B—ERRLZENIEREEIEE - ~NEE
environment for all employees are closely related. The Group BEBEBRETHFRERZEMHIEIRE UK
continues to maintain a healthy and safety working environment SN B A AN B R E /Y R ERAERI B2 I fZ /)
for its employees so as to attract and retain talented employees BEET -
which in line with established internal guidelines and systems of
the Group.
The Group provides its employee with flexible rest leave ZISEIELE\ITET\m/EE’JWE'%TE?z?ﬁF BE
arrangement, medical and hospital scheme. The Group BlhRitZ - AEEHAQABETIRFE—A%
understands that a good working environment for its employees % CETEMIEREIEFEE - ALEDHITE
with a safe and comfortable working condition is very important. AR - FREEITERHES  WMEE
A set clear guideline of work arrangement under typhoon and THILITSE -
rainstorm warning had been formulated by the Group for its
employees to follow.
Occupational Health and Safety Data i E e
The information of work accidence are set out below: THEERNERINTRAR
2019 2018

2019 F 20184F
Health and Safety Female Male Female
REHEZE M Sl 7t
Number of work-related fatalities 0% 0% 0%
E TIERRRMIL T 8 A S
Lost days due to work injury 0% 0% 0%

ETHBERTIEAH

During the Period under Review, the Group had no non-
compliance cases regarding violation of relevant laws and
regulations on occupational health and safety.

AEIEEA - 75 B0 R 3 A A A B
ERERZENERIAROIMER -
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Development and Training

Staff development is an important aspect of the Group’s human
resources policy. The Group places a strong emphasis on
providing training to its employees to retain appropriate and
suitable personnel for its long-term development.

The Group has committed to provide on-the-job education and
training to its employees in order to enhance their knowledge
and skills. All employees are encouraged to enhance their skills
and knowledge at every opportunity in order to perform their
current job more efficiently and effectively and to be better
prepared for career opportunities which may arise. During the
Period under Review, regular training courses were provided to
the employees included but not limited to orientation training,
technical training and quality training.

Performance evaluations are initiated annually. In order to
recognise the value in the skill and experience of the Group’s
employees, the Group has adopted a policy that any promotions
will be considered internally first before hiring any outside staff. It
is the Group’s policy to select the most suitable candidate for
appointment to a higher rank based on merit, rather than on the
seniority of the candidates.

Labour Standards

The Group is fully awarded that child labour and forced labour
violate fundamental human rights, International Labour
Conventions and Recommendations poses a threat to
sustainable social and economic development. Therefore, the
Group strictly complied with relevant laws and regulations. The
Group prohibits the use of child labour by reviewing the actual
age of the interviewee during the recruitment process, including
the examination of identity documents and detailed records. The
Group only carries out the requirements of standard labour
contract and does not use any means to unfairly restrict the
employment relationship between employee and the enterprise
by, for example, withholding a deposit or identity documents.

For entry registration, all employees must present valid
documents to the Group as follows: (i) identity card and
vocational qualification certificate; (i) social security card; (iii)
medical or health certificate; (iv) recent photos; and (v) other
relevant information and documents. The above procedures can
ensure no child labour will be employed.

Being people-oriented, the Group has hosted various social
events and activities such as company trips and parties for its
employees with the aim of promoting work-life balance.

During the Period under Review, the Group had no non-
compliance cases regarding violation of relevant child labour and
forced labour laws.

ZEEMREBARAF / F#2019
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B5

B6

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and regulations
that govern its business. The Group always adheres to
international best practices and conducts fair and unbiased
procurement processes when dealing with suppliers.

The Group adheres to the principle of transparency and
implements the value of honesty, integrity and fairness in its
supply chain management. The Group’s procurement
procedures provide directions and guidelines on evaluation and
engagement when dealing with suppliers of goods and services
to ensure business is conducted with legally, financially and
technically-sound entities. In addition, approval procedures are in
place to ensure that supplier engagements are monitored and
approved by the appropriate level of management.

During the selection process of suppliers, the Group takes into
account such as its reputation, quality of services and products,
past performance and green elements.

Product Responsibility

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer satisfaction in
terms of the products and services. Strenuous efforts are made
to ensure compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to product health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
The Group requires its employees to comply with applicable
governmental and regulatory laws, rules, codes and regulations.

The Company was awarded Hong Kong Star Brand Award
(Enterprise) (‘& & £ b K & (1 2)”) and also Hong Kong
Star Brand Award (Innovation and Technology) (“ & 7 £ &% & &
K #2( 8l # K& F £ )”), organised by Hong Kong Small and
Medium Enterprise Association (“&#& R /N EBA € ), and
the Company was also recognised as one of the most influential
security brands in the PRC in 2017 by China Public Security
(“CPSH % #8”) and China Public Security Publisher (“ 7 B /A ££
Z 25564 ”) in Shenzhen, the PRC.

During the Period under Review, the Group did not have any
recalled products and did not receive any compliant from its
customers in relation to either its quality of service or products.
The Group had no non-compliance cases regarding violations of
relevant laws and regulations on product responsibility and data
privacy.
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Anti-corruption

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited. The
Group’s anti-corruption policies set out standards of conduct to
which all employees are required to adhere in order to promote
the integrity environment in the workplace.

The management believes that the integrity of business is the
foundation of corporate social responsibility, as well as a
fundamental element for a business’s competitive advantage and
sustainability. The Group is committed to the highest possible
standards of openness, probity and accountability.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest, unless
with the Group’s approval, Directors and employees are
prohibited from accepting any valuable items from co-workers,
customers, suppliers or other stakeholders. Unless with approval
the Board, senior management members are also prohibited
from engaging in any activities that involve a potential conflict of
interest with the Group or may do harm to the Group’s overall
interests. Breaches are subject to disciplinary actions, including
termination of employment contracts where necessary.

Various policies have also been formulated to accord with the
Securities and Futures Commission’s Guideline on Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing, including the basic
procedures for customer identification and due diligence,
suspicious transactions report and recordkeeping. Ongoing staff
training has also been carried out to ensure each of the
employees is fully aware of these policies.

In the Period under Review, there was no legal case concerning
corruption brought against the Group or employees.

Community Involvement

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the
communities in which it operates and maintains close
communications and interactions with the communities in order
to contribute to local development from time to time.

The Group strives to improve the society image and social
responsibility through community investment. All employees of
the Group are encouraged to participate their own initiatives on
helping and supporting the local communities and neighbours.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance. The Board considers that enhanced public accountability and
corporate governance are beneficial for the healthy growth of the Group,
improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the interests of
shareholders of the Group.

The Company has adopted and complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules as
its own code and has complied with the CG Code for the year ended 31
March 2019, except for the following deviation. The Board has continued to
monitor and review the corporate governance principles and practices to
ensure compliance.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Tony Yuen is the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company. In the view that Mr. Tony Yuen is one of the founders of the
Group and has been operating and managing the Group since June 1999, the
Board believes that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Tony
Yuen taking up both roles for effective management and business
development. Therefore the Board considers that the deviation from the CG
Code provision A.2.1 is appropriate in such circumstance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Upon the specific enquiry made to all the Directors, the Company was not

aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises 7 directors, including 3 executive Directors, 1
non-executive Director and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline

Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan

Mr. Chung Billy

Mr. Mui Pak Kuen

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of all directors are set out in the
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual
report. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience, knowledge and
execution ability to hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively
and efficiently.

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, 1 general meeting, 4 regular Board ~ #HZE201943A31BILFE BT EHEEASE  ©8
meetings and other Board meetings were held in addition to circulation of fT1IXBREAL - 4XERESS R NEBEETSTH -

written resolution. The attendance record of meetings are shown below: GRLELEITIT ¢
General Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of member REHKR Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
TN Exg EREEE FMzES REZES
Number of total meetings Ry 1 4 4 4 4
Number of Meetings CHESRZRE 4%
attended/Total
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony S 1/1 4/4 N/A 1iE N/A 7N A N/A N R
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline xRt 1/1 4/4 N/A 1iE 4/4 N/A N
Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle BRu%at 1/1 4/4 N/A 1iE N/A i N/A TR
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph B E 1/1 4/4 N/A 1iE N/A i N/A TR

Independent non-executive ~ BIFHTEES

Directors
Mr. Hui Man Ho, lvan RSB A 11 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4
Mr. Chung Billy EEERE /1 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen istizy e 11 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4
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THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of management
company’s business and is collectively responsible for the company’s affair
under the Board’s direction and supervision. All the Directors should make
decision objectively in the interests of the Company.

The overall responsibilities of the Board include considering and making
decisions on the following matters:

(i) Setting the cooperate goals of the Group and formulating the Group’s
strategy and monitoring the implementation;

(ii) Diversification and extension of activities into new business area;
(iii) Approving the annual, half year and quarterly results;

(iv)  Dividend policy;

(v) Material acquisitions and disposal;

(vi) Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;
(vi)  Monitoring the performance of the Management; and

(vii)  Determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the Board.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 18 January 2018.
The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with policies.
The composition and diversity policies of the Board is reviewed annually and
regularly. The Board should ensure that its changes in composition will not
result in any undue interference. The Board members should possess
appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing
duties and functions. The Board would diversify its members according to the
Company’s situations and need. While participating in nomination and
recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member of the
Board may consider a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or professional
experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s various
business development and management. The Board is to review the policy
concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the policy or a
summary of the policy in the corporate governance report, including any
quantitative targets and standards and its progress with policy
implementation.

In 2019, the Board has reviewed the diversity of the Board and considered the
Board composition and diversity policy is appropriate.

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019

ExgORE

EFTAEMHRBEERARNLS YEEFEHERE
ETHAREBHARRET - 2REFHEWMBIEHTA
AR AFIEHRE -

EFeNERREREMUATEEFNZRIAR |

0) REAEE DB RN BIEAR R B R REENT

(ii) S LBERIIBREGENEBEL
(i)  BERF PHRFEEE

(v)  PREEE:

V)  EARWERHE

(vi) A REEARENIEEGE
(i) EERETEBEMRE R

iy HEREMHEESEXNRZITL -

EEgAARSTIEBE

E2018F 1 A18HRE  ARARIERMEST S L ILILEUR »
ZBEHAERESS L ULMAE - AR - €581
- BBEZTIENESRS WA AEEESTRILRE
BR - EFSERRE TR SEFRENEN -EFg
EHREARHESETSEREATEENTE -EFG
REBEABESEEER  KREBEABITRE B LB
Bt - EESHRBEAAFNBRRETEEAKE - TR &
EFERENRENEZESTHREARAZE— RISl
BHE  BEEBTERAMR - Tt ERBEES  HE
e EBZ LA BRAARSEERERKE
B-=RZERENAFRESTENELTOBER - WARDLE
ERMERBECR KBRS - BEEMTEE B REEN
RIRENITHEE -

R2019F - EFECHEHNE
kT BREBAM -

LR RES SR

39



Corporate Governance Report
J/J:\ === Mhéxiﬁﬂ:

MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management (the
“Management”). The delegated functions and assignments are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to entering into
any significant transactions by the above mentioned officers.

The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering and making
decisions on the following matters:

(i) Implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board;
(ii) Strategic planning of different business and functions;

(iii) Closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

(iv) Putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in

place; and

(v) Managing the Group’s day to day business.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed 3 independent non-executive Directors; and at least
one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has made an annual confirmation in writing of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors were
independent during 2019 since their respective date of appointment.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors by the Company.

Mr. Tony Yuen (the chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer and an
executive Director) and Ms. Jazzy Wong (a member of the senior
management) are spouse. Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen (an executive
Director) are siblings. Mr. Tony Yuen and Mr. Joseph Yam (a non-executive
Director) are brothers-in-law. Mr. Joseph Yam is a brother-in-law of Ms. Jazzy
Wong and Ms. Pauline Yuen, Ms. Jazzy Wong and Ms. Pauline Yuen are
sisters-in-law. Save as otherwise disclosed herein, there is no family or other
material relationship among members of the Board.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, should keep
abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the businesses
and activities of the Group. The Group also provides briefings and other
training to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and
updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Directors provided their training
record to the Company in respect of their participation in training activities
such as attending seminars relevant to their duties and responsibilities as
directors of a listed company, particulars of which are as follows:

EREF(BEBYIFNTES) BEREREZTRNAEAE
BXBRIHOHRARE - ARENSRMABRES REMIT
Al ABREEHESNHANB LR - XHGEM LR A
REMEREERENENERASBESRREHER
HERABLIRRESRFEEERATRNEE

HE2019FIASTHILFE EFUREL2E P RRE(E
BETARNEEZREEBENEIES (ML FEHRES)
AARBHRHIEINACE: - BT

Reading Attending
materials the seminar
relevant to Attending relevant to
directors’ the seminar the skill of
duties and provided by the Director’s
responsibilities the Company position
HEERHER HEEEERN
BEEHANEE HEARQ TR HeEEmn
M WS =
Executive Directors BITESR
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony BrE & 5o v/ v v
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline PrER 21 v/ v/ v/
Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle BR%k Lt v Ve v
Non-executive Director EHITES
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph AT E v/ v/ v/
Independent non-executive Directors BV FEHITESE
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan USSR E v v/ v/
Mr. Chung Billy BERE v/ v v/
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen fefaRsLE v v v
2R S E AR AR / F 82010 41
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Tony Yuen is both the Chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company. In view of Mr. Tony Yuen is one of the founders of the Group and
has been operating and managing the Group since June 1999, the Board
believes that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Tony Yuen
taking up both roles for effective management and business development. The
role of the Chairman is primarily responsible for managing the Board, whereas
the role of the chief executive officer is primarily responsible for overseeing the
various businesses of the Group. Their respective roles and responsibilities are
summarised as follows:

Responsibilities of the Chairman include: (i) leading the Board and ensuring
that the Board functions effectively and smoothly; (i) chairing the Board and
shareholder’s meetings; (i) approving the agenda for each Board meeting,
taking into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other
Directors and the company secretary of the Company for inclusion in the
agenda; (iv) ensuring that all Directors receive all relevant information prior to
each meeting and are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; (v)
ensuring all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
and constructive manner; (vi) encouraging all Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors, to actively participate in all Board and
Board committees meetings and promoting a culture of openness for the
Directors to share and voice their concerns on all matters during each
meeting; (vi) ensuring good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established and followed; and (viii) taking appropriate steps to provide
effective communication with shareholders and to ensure that shareholders’
view are communicated to the Board as a whole.

Responsibilities of the chief executive officer include: (i) implementing the
Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board; (i) strategic planning of
different business and functions; (iii) closely monitoring operational and
financial results in accordance with plans and budgets; (iv) assuming full
accountability to the Board for all aspects of the Group’s operations and
performance; (v) maintaining ongoing dialogue with the Chairman and the
other Directors; (vi) developing and leading an effective executive team; (vii)
putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in place ;
and (viii) representing the Company and managing the Group’s day to day
business.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All the Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years and subject to
retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”). At each annual general
meeting, not less than one third of the Directors then in office shall retire and
every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

All existing executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors are entitled to a fixed remuneration per month or fee per
annum respectively. The remuneration of each Director is subject to the annual
review of the Board with reference to his contribution in terms of time, effort
and his expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors during the year are
disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred
during the performance of their duties to the Company and are eligible for
share options under the share option scheme of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee, all
with specific terms of reference clearly defining the powers and responsibilities
of the respective board committees. All board committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with
written terms of reference that are in conformity of the requirements of the CG
Code which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee is currently composed of the 3 independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Billy, Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan and Mr.
Mui Pak Kuen, and chaired by Mr. Chung Billy, with all members being
independent non-executive Directors of the Company in full compliance with
Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019, 4 audit committee meetings were held
and the members’ attendance is shown on page 38 of this annual report.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include:

U]

44

Relationship with the Company’s auditor

(@)

to consider and be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commences. In
connection, the Audit Committee shall:

o consider all relationships between the Company and the
external auditor (including non-audit services);

o obtain from the external auditor annually information about
policies and processes for maintaining independence and
monitoring compliance with relevant requirements,
including those for rotation of audit partners and staff; and

o meet with the external auditor, at least annually, in the
absence of the management, to discuss matters relating
to its audit fee, any issues arising from the audit and any
other matters the external auditor may wish to raise;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor
to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, external auditor
includes any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all relevant information would
reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally or
internationally. When assessing the external auditor’s
independence or objectivity in relation to non-audit service, the
Audit Committee shall consider:

o whether the skills and experience of the audit firm make it
a suitable supplier of the non-audit services;

o whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that there
is no threat to the objectivity and independence of the
audit because the external auditor provides non-audit
services;
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. the nature of the non-audit services, the related fee levels
and fee levels individually and in total relative to the audit
firm; and

o criteria for compensation of the individuals performing the
audit.

The Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendation on any matters where action or improvement is
needed; and

©)

to approve the policies on hiring employees or former employees
of the external auditors and monitoring the application of these
policies and consider whether there has been or appears to be
any impairment of the auditor’s judgement or independence for
the audit.

Review of the Company’s financial information

(@)

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepare for
publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them. It is the responsibility of
the Audit Committee to determine the scope and extent of the
review. The Audit Committee may refer to relevant statements of
auditing standards and audited guidelines in relation to review of
these reports for guidance. In reviewing these reports before
submission to the Board, the Audit Committee should focus
particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

2) major judgement areas;

Q) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

5) compliance with accounting standards; and

6) compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting.
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regarding point (a) above:

(1) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and Company’s senior management and the Audit
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company’s auditors; and

(2)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the
report and accounts, and it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or auditors.

to provide full details of any disagreement by the Audit
Committee with the accounting treatment adopted by the
Company.

Overseeing of the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures

(@)

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless expressly
addressed by a separate board risk committee, or by the Board
itself, to review the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems;

to discuss the risk management and the internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the
internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

(iii)
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to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in these terms of reference
and those set out in the code provisions as stated in Appendix
15 of the GEM Listing Rules from time to time;

to review arrangements by which employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters, and the Audit Committee should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation
of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representation body for overseeing the Group’s
relationship with the external auditor;

to establish a whistleblowing policy and system for employees
and those who deal with the Company (e.g. customers and
suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence, with the audit
committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the Company; and

to review the half-year report prepared by the Group’s corporate
guarantee committee on its work and information relating to the
provision of corporate guarantees.

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:

(@)

reviewed the financial statements for disclosure on a quarterly,
half-yearly and annually basis, where applicable;

reviewed the external auditor’s significant findings and
management’s response to the recommendation raised, if any;

reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and the
adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting function of
the Group;

reviewed and approved the external auditor’s statutory audit
scope for 2019 and the letter of representation to be given by the
Board; and

considered and approved the 2019 external audit fees and
engagement letters.
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The Group’s internal control system is reviewed regularly by management.
With the view of enhancing the Group’s internal control system, during the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Company had appointed World Link
Corporate Finance Limited, as independent consultant, to review the Group’s
internal control systems and recommend actions to improve our internal
controls.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that the Group’s
internal control system was effective and in compliance with the requirements
of the CG Code C.2.1 for the year ended 31 March 2019.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and recommended approval to the
Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirement of the CG Code. In accordance with provisions set out in the CG
Code are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is currently composed of the 1 executive
Director and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Yuen Mei
Ling, Pauline, Mr. Mui Pak Kuen, Mr. Chung Billy and Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan,
and chaired by Mr. Mui Pak Kuen.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, 4 remuneration committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 38 of this Report.

The role and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management
of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(ii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(iii) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management. This should
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment;
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to determine the policy and make recommendations to the Board on
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to assess the performance of executive Directors;

to approve the terms of executive directors’ service contracts;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Company and its subsidiaries;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
his own remuneration;

to form a view in respect of service contracts to be granted by the
Group under Rule 17.90 of the GEM Listing Rules that require
shareholders’ approval and advise shareholders (other than
shareholders who are Directors with a material interests in the service
contracts and their associates) as to whether the terms are fair and
reasonable, advise whether such contracts are in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole and advise shareholders how
to vote. An independent non-executive Director who has a material
interest in any such contracts shall not sit on the Remuneration
Committee;

to consider the granting of share options to Directors pursuant to any
share option scheme adopted by the Company;

to ensure due compliance with any relevant disclosure requirements in
respect of the remuneration of Directors under the GEM Listing Rules,
the Companies Ordinance and any other statutory requirements;

to consult the Chairman of the Board and/or chief executive of the

Company about their remuneration proposals for other executive
Directors;
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(xv)  to do any such things to enable to the Remuneration Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board; and
(xvi)  to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from

time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
Memorandum of Association and the Articles or imposed by legislation
and the GEM Listing Rules.

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:

(i) reviewed matters relating to the remuneration packages and
emoluments of Directors and senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are in conformity with the requirements of the CG
Code and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the 3 independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan, Mr. Chung Billy and Mr.

Mui Pak Kuen, and chaired by Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, 4 Nomination Committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 38 of this annual report.

The role and functions of the Nomination Committee include:

(i) to formulate nomination policy for consideration of the Board and
implement the nomination policy laid down by the Board;

(ii) without prejudice to the generality of foregoing;

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on

the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

() to assess the independence of independent non-executive;
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(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive;

(e) to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

) to adopt nomination procedures, process and criteria to select
and recommend candidates for directorship;

(9  todo any such things to enable to the Nomination Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board;
and

(h) to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
Memorandum of Association and the Articles or imposed by
legislation and the GEM Listing Rules;

in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered into by any
members of the Group with its director or proposed director, which
require the prior approval of the shareholders of the Company at
general meeting, to review and provide recommendations to the
shareholders of the Company (other than shareholders who are
directors with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the service
contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such service contracts
are in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
and to advise shareholders on how to vote; and

to review the policy concerning diversity of the Board and the
measurable objectives for implementing such policy from time to time
adopted by the Board, and to review the progress on achieving these
objectives.

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:

U
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recommended the re-election of Directors at the forthcoming 2019
annual general meeting of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
which includes:

(i) developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(ivy  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the CG Report.

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:

(i) evaluated the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and made appropriate amendments;

(ii) arranged the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; and

(iii) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the external
auditor World Link CPA Limited and its network firm to the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:
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%WE’\J?E’ZE@ o

BE £

HE2019F 3 A31 HIEFE - INEREREL RE(FH)
SRS ERA R REBLEK S FTAAREBIRENER
RIFEZRBEMT

Services rendered HK$
REHE RS BT
Audit services FEIZR
— Audit the consolidated financial statements of — BEAEEHZE2019F3A31HILFE

the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 2B EHRE 500,000
Non-audit services B ZRTE 280,000

Non-audit services include (i) tax compliance service; (i) risk assessment and
internal control review; and (jii) environmental, social and governance reporting.

52

IEBIZRABIE () RIS 6 R IRTE
o R ERE - g RERRE °

(ii) B 5T A B P B 428 Il 5

Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2019



Corporate Governance Report
J/J:\ === Mhéxiﬁﬂ:

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019 were audited by World Link
CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
World Link CPA Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the Group’s
financial statements to give a true and fair view. The responsibilities of auditors
in respect of the financial statements are set out in the report of the auditors
forming part of this Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group emphasises the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures. The
Group’s system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage and
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment of the business
objectives. The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the
Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable
assurance in relation to protection of material assets and shareholders’
interests. During the year under review, World Link Corporate Finance Limited
has reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and has provided written reports to the Audit Committee.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess and manage different types of risks. At the first line of defence,
business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risk
associated with each business or transaction. The management, as the
second line of defence, defines rule sets and models, provide technical
support, develops new system and oversees portfolio management. It ensures
risks are within acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective.
As the final line of defense, World Link Corporate Finance Limited assists the
Audit Committee to review the first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and management of
risks associated with its business activities through ongoing assessment of a
risk register, by considering the likelihood and impact of each identified risk.
The Group has implemented an effective control system which includes a
defined management structure with limits of authority, a sound management
system and periodic review of the Group’s performance by the Audit
Committee and the Board.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 March 2019, covering the material financial, operational
and compliance controls, which are considered effective and adequate.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience, training and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions on an annual basis.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may impact the price of the shares of the Company or their trading
volume and decides whether the relevant information is considered inside
information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable
pursuant to Rules 17.10 and 17.11 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO. The Executive Directors
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or circulars to be
issued by the Company under powers delegated by the Board from time to
time.

The Company has put in place procedures on handling and dissemination of
inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any
person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market to price
the listed securities of the Company with the latest available information. The
Company has appropriate internal control and reporting systems to identify
and assess potential inside information. Dissemination of inside information of
the Company shall be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company Secretary was Mr. Chou
Chiu Ho.

Details of backgrounds and qualification of the Company Secretary are set out
in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

A written record had been received by the Company from Mr. Chou Chiu Ho
confirming that he took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 March 2019. The Company is of the view that Mr.
Chou has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In order to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting.
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The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are subject to the Articles, and the applicable
legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules:

(i) any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), to require an extraordinary
general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition pursuant to
Article 64 of the Articles; and

(ii) if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself/themselves
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Apart from sending email to ir@primeintelligence.com, shareholders may send
their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
headquarter and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Unit A, 6/F, TLP132, Nos. 132-134 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong, by post or by fax to (852) 2991 1110, for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy, a summary of which is disclosed
as below.

Any amount of dividends of the Company will be at the discretion of the
Directors and will depend on, among other things, the Company’s trading
results, cash flows and financial condition as well as operating and capital
requirements. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends
will be subject to the Company’s constitutional documents and the Companies
Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, including the approval of Shareholders.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

Pursuant to the Articles, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019, there was no significant change in the
Company’s memorandum and the Articles.
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The directors (“Directors”) of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (the
“Company”) present their report together with the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

The analysis of geographical locations of the Group for the year is set out in
note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year and analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators and prospects of the
Group’s business are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
on page 5 to 6 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 14
of the annual report. The discussion forms part of this Director’s report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of segment reporting are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the state of
the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 144.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$63.3 million.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) when
the Directors’ Report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

FOUR YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last four financial years is set out on page 144 of the annual report.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline

Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen

Mr. Chung Billy

Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan
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ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN THE FORTHCOMING
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Mui Pak
Kuen, Mr. Chung Billy and Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan, shall retire from office as
Directors by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Mui Pak
Kuen, Mr. Chung Billy and Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan have agreed to offer himself
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with our
Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the 14 February
2018, which will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

The non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the 14 February
2018, which will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three
months’ prior notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for an initial
term of three years with effect from 14 February 2018, which will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS
THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save for disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on page 15 to 21 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of the Company

EERBRETRAEBREQAIEMEEEE
MR - HEROREERNESR AR

R201943A31 A ARBEERTIETHABRRARA
S EAAEEEE (EEREFRAE G (B REERK
Bl EXVER) BRtn - MERERR () R ERERET - BEARIEE S
RAGEPIEXVEET MESH AAME AN R BB FTE
Bam ke (BREREREEFMARGDEBEXHRR
R EHEA MR MAR) - HIRIEEZ LB EGP 5352
BARSEZGX L ELMANERRRE  RIRE
GEM LT #1815 5.46 £ 5.67 IRZA A& A 1 B R B 22 P 4
wmEORBIT

A
mp

D

A BB

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s
shares issued share
Name Capacity and nature of interest (note 1) capital
RO&E HAED TS BT
#E SO RERMEE (Htst1) BAEzEDE
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony (“Mr. Tony Yuen”) Interest of controlled corporation 366,000,000 (L) 45.75%
(note 2)
FrBlfE 54 ([BrBE k% ) (et 2) R EE R
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline (“Ms. Pauline Yuen”) Interest of controlled corporation 366,000,000 (L) 45.75%
(note 2)
iRzt ([ERLZ L) (fit2) ZEHEEER
Notes: BieE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the share 1. BXFE L] RRRRERRAR BRI A ©
capital of the Company.
2. Delighting View Global Limited (“Delighting View”) directly holds 366,000,000 2. Delighting View Global Limited ([ Delighting View]) BE##6E

Shares. As Delighting View is beneficially owned as to 85% and 15% by Mr. Tony
Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen respectively and Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen
are parties acting in concert, each of Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen is
deemed to be interested in all the Share held by Delighting View under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company or their associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 ad 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which each of them has
taken or deemed to be taken under the provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register
referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 and 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2019, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the Company had, or were
deemed to have, interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is
directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company:

Long positions
Ordinary shares of the Company

FERREEMALTREDTRO REER D
MEERAE

R2019F3 A31 H  BEEMMZE - THIAL(LFFEER
RABRBITRAR) RO BB R h R iR A
BEREES RABRPIFEXVERE 2 K30 MIEXARAART
WEROERSOAR | RARLRSN AR RIRIEE 7 KB &
EIBOEMEEECMMERIOAR BRI EEGH
RN ERIER TR EAR B BERAE ERENER
AR A (B 5% kA FiEss

B A
5y

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s

shares issued share

Name Capacity and nature of interest (note 1) capital

RHHE HAEATE BT

HE AR SO REREME (K17E1) RAZzHDE

Delighting View (note 2) Beneficial owner 366,000,000 (L) 45.75%
Delighting View (f1:#2) BERHAA

Super Arena Limited (“Super Arena”) (note 3) Beneficial owner 100,000,000 (L) 12.5%
Super Arena Limited ([ Super Arenal) (4771 3) XA A

Mr. Kor Sing Mung, Michael (“Mr. Kor") (note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 100,000,000 (L) 12.5%

Kor Sing Mung, Michael %t 4 ([Kor e 4 1) (A17£3)  SEshEE xR

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the share
capital of the Company.

2. As Delighting View is beneficially owned as to 85% and 15% by Mr. Tony Yuen
and Ms. Pauline Yuen respectively and Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are
parties acting in concert, each of Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Delighting View under the SFO.

3. Super Arena directly holds 100,000,000 Shares. As Super Arena is beneficially
owned as to 70% by Mr. Kor, Mr. Kor is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Super Arena under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Directors are not aware of
any other person, other than Directors and the chief executive of the Company
who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or,
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or options in
respect of such share capital.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” and “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” in this
report, and save for the reorganisation and the capitalisation issue as
explained in the Prospectus, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2019
was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or its parent company a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors and Chief Executives (including their
respective spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 18
January 2018 for the primary purpose is to attract, retain and motivate
talented participants, to strive for future developments and expansion of the
Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any employees, any
executives, Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors), advisors, consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the date on which the Scheme is adopted, after which period
no further share options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
in all other respects remain in full force and effect and share options which are
granted during the life of the Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue. The principal terms of which were
summarised in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV
to the Prospectus. No share options have been granted under the Scheme
since its adoption.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME” above, no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or
may result in the Company issuing shares or (i) requires the Company to enter
into any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, was
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 or
subsisted at the end of the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

EEEH
R AATER BRI MEARD EHHERRITR
THRETSI TR K -

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FTEEFRHER
Sales Purchases
SHE 24
The largest customer BAREF 7.9% N/ANE
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFBE 31.3% N/ATNE A
The largest supplier SAMER N/A 73 Fi 29.0%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hAREERE AT N/A 7~ A 82.6%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, to the best of knowledge of the
Directors, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on
the businesses and operations of the Group.

DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 17.22 TO 17.24 OF THE
GEM LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no circumstances which would give rise
to a disclosure obligation under rules 17.22 to 17.24 of the GEM Listing Rules.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND KEY RELATIONSHIP
WITH EMPLOYEES

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and key relationship with
employees is set out in the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 22 to 35 of this report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the requirement of rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered the tenancy agreement between Global
Technology Corporation Limited as the landlord and Solution Expert
Technology Limited as the tenant constitutes an exempt continuing connected
transaction which is exempted from the reporting, announcement, annual
review and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules. Details of the above tenancy agreement of the Group are
set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the Directors, the controlling
shareholders of the Company and their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) as at 31 March 2019 had any interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group or any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Tony Yuen, Ms. Pauline Yuen and Delighting View (the
“Covenantors”), being the controlling shareholders of the Company, has
entered into the deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”)
pursuant to which each of the Covenantors has, among other things,
irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with the Company (for itself and as
trustee for its subsidiaries), on a joint and several basis, that at any time during
the period commencing on the Listing Date and expiring on the earlier of (i) the
date upon which the Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange; or (i)
the date upon which the Covenantors and their close associates cease to own
30% or more of the then issued share capital of the Company directly or
indirectly, such Covenantor shall not, and shall procure that neither their
respective close associates nor companies controlled by the Covenantors
(other than the members of the Group) will (i) directly or indirectly, be interested
in or involved in or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest (in each
case whether as a director or shareholder (other than being a director or
shareholder of any member of the Group)) in any form of business, including
but not limited to any joint venture, alliance, cooperation, partnership which
competes or is likely to compete directly or indirectly with the Group’s
business in any area in which the Group carries or may carry on business (the
“Restricted Activity”) from time to time; nor provide support in any form to
persons other than the members of the Group to engage in business that
constitutes or may constitute direct or indirect competition with the businesses
that the Group is currently and from time to time carrying on; (i) solicit any
existing employee of the Group for employment by him/her/it or his/her/its
close associates or companies controlled by him/her/it; and (i) without the
consent of the Company, make use of any information pertaining to the
business of the Group which may have come to his/her/its knowledge for any
purpose of engaging, investing or participating in any Restricted Activity. Such
non-competition undertaking does not apply to holding shares of a company
which conducts or is engaged in any Restricted Activity provided that, such
shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange and: (a) the total number of
the shares held by the Covenantors and/or their respective close associates (in
aggregate) does not amount to more than 5% of the issued shares of such
company; and (b) the Covenantors and/or their respective close associates
are not entitled to appoint a majority of the directors or management of that
company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition have been disclosed in the
Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling
Shareholders”.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Annual
Confirmation as part of the annual review process. In determining whether the
Covenantors had fully complied with the Deed of Non-competition for the year
ended 31 March 2019, the independent non-executive Director noted that (a)
the Covenantors declared that they had fully complied with the Deed of Non-
competition for the year ended 31 March 2019; (b) no new competing
business was reported by the Covenantors for the year ended 31 March 2019,
and (c) there was no particular situation rendering the full compliance of the
Deed of Non-competition being questionable. In view of the above, the
independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the Deed of Non-
competition was complied with by the Covenantors for the year ended 31
March 2019.

On 30 November 2015, Mr. Yuen Jackson Kwok Leung has also entered into
a deed of non-competition with the Company, pursuant to which Mr. Yuen
Jackson Kwok Leung has made similar undertakings to the Company as
those given by the controlling shareholders of the Company under the Deed of
Non-competition.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share
capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on pages 36 to 55 of
this annual report.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at the date of this annual report, save and except for (i) the participation of
Ample Capital Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”) as the sponsor and Ample
Orient Capital Limited as one of the underwriters and joint lead managers in
relation to the Listing; and (i) the compliance adviser’s agreement entered into
between the Company and the Compliance Adviser dated 25 January 2018,
neither the Compliance Adviser, nor any of its directors, employees or close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in the
securities of the Company or any other companies of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities) which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS
A resolution to re-appoint World Link CPA Limited as auditors of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2019 AGM will be held at Unit A, 12th Floor, Mai Sik Industrial Building,
1-11 Kwai Ting Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong on Tuesday,
13 August 2019 at 11:00 a.m. and a notice of the 2019 AGM wiill be published
and despatched in due course.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony
Chairman

Hong Kong
21 June 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
PRIME INTELLIGENCE SOLUTIONS GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prime Intelligence
Solutions Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 143, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were BB EIEAREE SR HETH AR ES MBIHRE
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the ~ HEZSZAEEMEHE - XS ETHENBEEREERAHE
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of ~ HMERFUFR T LEERE MBS TSUZSEEIEHE
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion  VHER - BZEEETNFENGEENLEE LB SEYW
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have  FXIE&VRE & AT UL @114 A A AR S E E RS EZ =E
determined (i) the valuation and allowance of inventories; and (i) impairment

and recoverability of trade receivables to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report:

Key Audit Matter

RREXEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEREREBE EEEERPNAEEBREEZER

() Valuation and allowance of inventories

() FEHGEREE
Refer to significant accounting policies in note 4(f), critical
judgement and key estimates in note 5(c) and its relevant
disclosures in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BRI FIMEAM T 40 F Z 25 BF - it 5(c) Ft#
HIEF R Z{HEr KM EE 19 8916 B 1 75 F 2 -
The Group had inventories with net carrying amount of ~ Our procedure in relation to net realisable value determination as
approximately HK$21,393,000 as at 31 March 2019 (after ~ well as impairment assessment of inventories carried out by the
related allowance of approximately HK$603,000 provided as management included:
at 31 March 2019). The carrying amount of inventories ZE5EMAETEEHRRMNAUZRFEBETALFERENGHHRE
contributed a significant part (19.7%) of the Group’s total ~ FFE¥E :
assets as at 31 March 2019.
MR2019F3A31H ESEHARMEFMEL21,393000 —  Reviewed the ageing of inventory;
BTN EE (EHRN2019F3 A1 HEt ROMEBEELY — FREERKR:
603,000/ L&) - FERREEN HEEN2019F3 A
31HMWEBELE—KRITD(19.7%) — lIdentifying and assessing aged and obsolete items of

inventory while attending the physical inventory count;

The Group operates in an industry where technological ~——  2HEBEFESIN  BRIRTEHEZERMREFTEEE
development may significantly affect the valuation of
inventories as its products would become slow-moving or - Assessed the Group’s internal control over the inventory
obsolete when products with new technology emerge. provision in particular the Group’s policy on allowance for
R BESELERETENNE  MEEESHERM slow-moving and obsolete inventories;
BEELBREZE FHNRERERE  HEQEFHEIE — Mt E5EUTEREOREEG LA S5EHE
1SiBEF o fH R RETFERNBBEE
The estimation of the net realisable value of these inventories — Assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness of the
requires management to make judgements based on these methodologies adopted by the management in determining
inventories’ ages, obsolescence, future usage plan, the net realisable value for those slow-moving items of
estimated net selling prices as well as inventory disposal inventory; and
plans. Actual sales or usages are likely to be different from  —  FHABEERMAETZSFEFTEEE SR FENTEN
those estimated or forecast since anticipated events AEEREEE K
sometimes do not occur as expected and unforeseen events
may arise, and their impact on estimates and forecasts may — Challenging the appropriateness and reasonableness of
be material. management’s assumption by performing sensitivity analysis
EEEAENZEFENRE - RERE - KRRAKTSE on possible future consumption/sales of slow-moving items of
HEFEEURFELEFEEL2E - UEAZSFE inventory.
MATERFE  EREEBARITEEZSMEAREN — FRYBEFEEBNEBEERIOER HEETHHRES
TR THREF S AR T TERRE £ R AT ETE i A EENRRNSEE GBI -
TSN = - I E B A ET RIRARZ BE R e EERX -
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Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EZEERPNMEEBEREREE

(1
()

Impairment and recoverability of trade receivables
B 5 WA EE R e

In practice, the Group would grant credit terms to its
customers ranged between 30 to 90 days. The Group would
perform periodic assessment on the impairment as well as
recoverability of trade receivables by basing on information
including credit risk characteristics of each customer,
historical ageing and settlement records, subsequent
settlement status, expected timing and amount of realisation
of outstanding balances, and on-going trading relationships
with the relevant customers. Subsequent to adoption of
HKFRS 9, the Group also considered forward-looking
information that may impact its customers’ ability to repay
the outstanding trade receivables in order to estimate the
expected credit losses (“ECL”) for the impairment
assessment that increased complexity which include the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration in
credit quality and assumptions used in the ECL model (for
exposures assessed individually or collectively).

BiR L EEEgREEFPETI0EW0ANEEH . &
SEEREBEEEFNEERRSE  BERRMAEFLHE
HiggEA0R  RBEREAREREHRNERERSEUAR
HAMAEFNHREXIWUESER  HEFRKFIARH
B R PTU B E 1T HiRT Ml - MR E B B mEERIE9
Siig - BEEBENERAATEHEFPERNAERESE
WRIER RE DI RTIEME B R - A EDRET B EREE
BE(EHREERBE] RENGENEREEDRS &
BEBNEEEEREREEBERAMANBRR LR
ERc AR (BB EBTEEAR) o

Due to the impairment and recoverability assessments of
trade receivables under the ECL model involved the use of
significant management judgements and estimates, we
considered this as a key audit matter.
EREREERATHNE S RUCIENRE K AT E 45T
P RERABERNEREHE KA HEEFRR/LTIAH
WEZEE -

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019

Our audit procedures in relation to the recoverability assessment of
trade receivables included:

EEAME SRR R AN EZIET R

— Evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over credit control, debt
collection and estimate of ECL;

—  FHMAEEES - WEIER LFEBEEEE G TR RR R8T
HIEVERET ~ Bie SOEVERCR

— Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models by
examining the model input used by management to form
such judgements, including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data, evaluating whether the historical loss
rates are appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions variables and assumptions used in each of the
economic scenarios and their probability weightings and
assessing whether there was an indication of management
bias when recognising loss allowances;

—  FEREEERERMELEBMEBOEXMARBTE &
SEEREEBREANSEN ST aEIEBERO
BEER  FHAT B IEERSIRBENLBER AL A&
HERELBEBERTANRR LA E L EETHEE R
B RTAREENREREEENBRABERERTER
"B

- Inspected settlements after the financial year end relating to
the trade receivables as at 31 March 2019; and

— RUYBFEHEREBEBRENR2019F3A31 HNE ZEIGIE
MHENEEER &

— We also assessed the disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the Group’s credit risk

exposure.
—  BENMERGEVEBREFAELEE E5EEEEAR
K FEE RS o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information
comprises all of the information included in the Company’s annual report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

World Link CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO6633

5/F., Far East Consortium Building,
121 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 21 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEEEkEMEZEIER

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE2019F3 A3 HILFE

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hfat FET FHT
Revenue W = 8 50,878 71,063
Cost of sales SHE R A (25,054) (29,016)
Gross profit ER 25,824 42,047
Other income PN 9 702 230
Selling and distribution costs THE R AR (5,749) (5,121)
Administrative and other operating expenses B R E AR LR (21,976) (29,645)
(Loss)/profit from operation REEEZ (B5E), %A (1,199) 7,511
Finance costs B MRk AR 10 (28) (75)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBAT (B1R), % F 11 (1,227) 7,436
Income tax expense FrisBiF sz 12 (259) (3,222)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to AAREREEAEEER
equity owners of the Company (B8]), &7 (1,486) 4,214
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMZEKRE  HIBRHE
net of tax:
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: BJREEH B R ERIBL -
Exchange differences on translating foreign BERINERRT ZEN =5
operations (273) 690
Total comprehensive income for the year ARREZEEAELEFAZE
attributable to equity owners of the Company U z4 %8 (1,759) 4,904
(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) SR (EE) /BF GBAl)
— Basic and diluted — BEAK#E 15 (0.19) 0.67
2R S E AR AR / F 82010 73



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B R R

At 31 March 2019
R2019F3 A31H

2019 2018
2019 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hfat FET FHT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WmE - WE MK 17 1,816 1,036
Intangible assets ER A E 18 119 168
1,935 1,204
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 19 21,393 18,919
Trade receivables e 20 9,691 12,354
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits HippEEE - JEASERRS 21 2,706 2,444
Tax recoverable BIRdEE 2,531 -
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTTHER 22 70,334 76,837
106,655 110,554
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 e I8 23 2,922 2,377
Other payables, deposits received and EmENRIE - BlRe
accrued expenses LETE A 24 5,538 5,663
Contract liabilities AHEE 25 5,066 -
Deferred revenue TRIE W 2 25 - 3,595
Current tax liabilities RNEARIE B (& 67 1,174
13,593 12,809
Net current assets REBEEFE 93,062 97,745
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 94,997 98,949
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Contract liabilities aHaE 25 102 -
Deferred revenue EIEW 25 = 134
102 134
NET ASSETS EEFE 94,895 98,815
Capital and reserves EXR A
Share capital R A 28 8,000 8,000
Reserves s 30 86,895 90,815
TOTAL EQUITY wRES 94,895 98,815

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 20194 6 A 21 A&E Sl & RIZHE T o
2019.

Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline
o B 2 ¥4

74 Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited / Annual Report 2019



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
= 32 4=
mEEREER
For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3A31HILFE

Attributable to equity owners of the Company

RATREREE AEL
Foreign
currency
Share Share Merger Legal translation Retained Total Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits reserve equity
B R 13 R E AbtEE EERE NERERE REEH N 1 R
(note 30(c)(j)  (note 30(c)(ii)) (note 30(c)fii)) (note 30(c)(iv))
(Rz2300))  (A130()i))  (FYE30(c)i) (e 30(c)iv)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiEL TET FHET TET THET FEL THET
At 1 April 2017 R201754F1H = - 17,079 12 (688) 17,826 34,229 34,229
Share capitalisation (note 28(b)) &5 & A4k (M3 28(0)) 6,000 (6,000) - - - - (6,000) -
Issue of new shares under the BEROBEERTHRN
share offer (note 28(c)) (FiE28(c)) 2,000 68,000 - - - - 68,000 70,000
Cost of issuing new shares under 1R A7 B & 31T
the share offer HRG B - (10,318) - - - - (10,318) (10,318)
Profit and total comprehensive FREFR2EYEEE
income for the year - - - - 690 4,214 4,904 4,904
Changes in equity for the year FREREY 8,000 51,682 - - 690 4,214 56,586 64,586
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 7201843 331 H &
20184 A1H 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 2 22,040 90,815 98,815
Impact on initial application NP ERBEN RS
of HKFRS 15 (note 3(a)) EREAG M E
GEXE)) - - - - - (2,161) (2,161) (2,161)
Loss and total comprehensive FRNEBRREANGLE
income for the year - - - - 273 (1,486) (1,759) (1,759
Changes in equity for the year ~FREXSE - - - - (273) (3,647) (3,920) (3,920)
At 31 March 2019 R2019E3A 318 8,000 51,682 17,079 12 (271) 18,393 86,895 94,895
*  Represents amount less than HK$1,000 BRI 1,000%8 T
EZ SR EEEaRAR / F52019 75



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3 A3 HILFE

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hfat FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EZEHRESRE
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (E51R), % 7 (1,227) 7,436
Adjustments for: BATSIBELFE
Interest income F BUA (636) (4)
Amortisation b o] 49 48
Depreciation e 957 589
Finance costs B RSAR AN 28 75
Impairment losses on trade receivables B S REBIEREEE 178 -
Allowance for inventories/(reversal of allowance) FERE(BERED) 386 (99)
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment H&E9 % - E &S &K (29) (212)
Write off of property, plant and equipment WEHMZE - R REE 1 -
Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes 438 & & & Ehpi4s =
(E518), %7 (293) 7,833
Increase in inventories T & (3,136) (981)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables g F s EIER L () 2,419 (1,447)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HoAh FEUERIE - TR OB
prepayments and deposits Kdzd (Em) (275) 3,243
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B S A FEE N, R D) 620 (68)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables, HAEAFIE  BEBRE R
deposits received and accrued expenses JEFHER (), /18 (123) 2,187
Decrease in contract liabilities/deferred revenue BREEEEWRER D (1,149) (1,392
Cash (used in)/from operations s (TR sl (1,937) 9,375
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREEFEH (3,442) (2,435)
Macao Complementary Tax paid BRI S T (28) (55)
Interest paid BEAFLE (28) (75)
Net cash (used in)/generated from R (FTA) B RS F 5
operating activities (5,435) 6,810
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ~ R&ZBHRSHE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  WEMEE (1,724) (687)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BE &
plant and equipment BEFTSFEUR 29 212
Interest received BRI 636 4
Net cash used in investing activities BB ERHRAELRE (1,059) (471)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE2019F3 A3 HILFE

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
o= FHET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ®EEEHBRESHRE

Import/export loans raised BEBE HOEXN 508 2,148
Repayments of import/export loans BEE HAER (508) (3,598)
Repayments of finance lease payables EEmERERMNZRE = (44)

Proceeds from new shares issued under RIERD B EEHITHR D

the share offer FriS /I8 = 70,000
Cost of issuing new shares under the share offer RIERR D B E 31T H AR D B AR - (10,318)
Net cash from financing activities BEEBAMSHRESFHE - 58,188
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND REeERBELEBYORLD),

CASH EQUIVALENTS I hNiFEE (6,494) 64,527
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ERBHHTE (9) 92
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FINRERESEEY

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 76,837 12,218
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNWESRRSEEY

AT END OF YEAR 70,334 76,837
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BHERREESBEYN DM
Cash and bank balances Be NMIBTHES 22 70,334 76,837
2R i R BARAR / £H2019 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

PRSI

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3 A3 HILFE

1.

78

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempt
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as revised) of
the Cayman Islands on 16 October 2015. The address of its registered
office is P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is located at Unit A, 6/F, TLP132, Nos. 132-134 Tai Lin Pai
Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) since 14 February 2018 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are sales of biometrics identification devices and other
devices and accessories and provision of auxiliary and other services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are discussed in
note 4 below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 3 below provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

P ISR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE2019F3 A3 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(@

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2018. Of these, the following developments are relevant to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements:

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

(ii) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements retrospectively to
instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018
(date of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 April
2018.

The application of HKFRS 9 did not affect the classification and
measurement of the Group’s loans and receivables as at 1 April
2018 which are continue to be measured at amortised cost after
initial application. As a result, restatement of the opening
accumulated losses, other components of equity and
comparative information is not required.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 resulted in the following changes to
the Group’s accounting policies.

() Classification
From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets
in the following measurement categories:

— those to be measured subsequently at fair value

through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”); and

— those to be measured at amortised cost.

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(@

(@)

Classification (continued)

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows. The Group reclassifies financial
assets when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVTOCI.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures financial assets
at its fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses), together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented in the
statement of profit or loss.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Measurement (continued)

° FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
other gains/(losses) and impairment losses are
presented in the statement of profit or loss.

° FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses
to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments are
continued to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are
recognised in other income or administrative and other
operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVTOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(b)

Measurement (continued)

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities of
the Group remain the same and the carrying amounts for
all financial liabilities of the Group as at 1 April 2018 have
not been significantly impacted by the initial application of
HKFRS 9.

Impairment

From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated with
its financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the Group’s
receivables. There is no significant change in accumulated
impairment loss at the date of initial adoption of HKFRS 9
as compared with that recognised under HKAS 39.

The following table and the accompanying notes below
explain the original measurement categories under HKAS
39 and the new measurement categories under HKFRS 9
for each class of the Group’s financial assets as at 1 April
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

(@

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. It replaced HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

Under HKFRS 15, an entity is required to identify the
performance obligations in the contract, determine the
transaction price of the contract, allocate the transaction price to
the performance obligations in the contract based on each
performance obligation’s standalone price, and recognise
revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the promised good or service in the contract.
HKFRS 15 identifies 3 situations in which control of the promised
good or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

() When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

(b) When the entity’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced;

(c) When the entity’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into any
of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the entity recognises
revenue for the sale of that good or service at a single point in
time, being when control has passed. Transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators that will be
considered in determining when the transfer of control occurs.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of initial application, 1 April 2018. Any difference, at the
date of initial application is recognised in the opening retained
profits (or other components of equity, as appropriate) and
comparative information has not been restated.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 resulted in the following changes to
the Group’s accounting policies.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

(@

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

As mentioned in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group mainly derived its revenue from (i) sales of biometric
identification devices, security products and other accessories;
and (i) provision of auxiliary and other services which include (a)
maintenance, installation and solution services; and (b) software
licensing.

Prior to application of HKFRS 15, apart from maintenance
services was recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
term of maintenance contracts, the Group recognised income
from sales of goods and provision of other services at a point in
time: i.e. when the goods and relevant services are delivered to
customers.

The Group generally provides one-year free warranty on sales of
biometrics identification devices and certain accessories to its
customers, income from sales of such products was fully
recognised upon delivery under HKAS 18 “Revenue” and the
Group would recognise a provision (if necessary) for future
warranty claims based on historical warranty claim information,
as well as recent trends that might suggest that past cost
information may differ from future claims. The estimation basis is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.
Following the adoption of HKFRS 15, the one-year free warranty
constitutes a separate unfulfilled performance obligation upon
delivery of the promised goods and the Group had distinguished
contract amount between sales of products and provision of
warranty services and recognised unfulfiled warranty services as
contract liabilities having considered (i) the standalone transaction
price for sales of products and provision of warranty services;
and (ii) the weighted discount given to a bundle sales of products
and provision of warranty services. The opening retained profits
were adjusted by the contract liabilities and the corresponding
income tax effect as if HKFRS 15 was in effect as at 1 April 2018.

Save for disclosed above, the adoption of HKFRS 15 does not
have a significant impact on how the Group recognises revenue
from other source of income.

The following table gives a summary of the opening balance
adjustments recognised for each line item in the consolidated
statement of financial position that has been impacted by HKFRS
15.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

(@)

(b)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)
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Retained profits RE &R
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warranty services recognised as revenue B (2,588)
Related tax 1R IE 427
Net decrease in retained profits as at 7" 201854 A1 BNREBEFFRD
(2,161)

1 April 2018

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 April 2018. These new and revised HKFRSs include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments and new standards is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has
identified some aspects of HKFRS 16 which may have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Further details of the expected impacts are discussed below.
While the assessment has been substantially completed for
HKFRS 16, the actual impacts upon the initial adoption of the
standards may differ as the assessment completed to date is
based on the information currently available to the Group, and
further impacts may be identified before the standards are initially
applied in the Group’s interim financial report for the six months
ending 30 September 2019. The Group may also change its
accounting policy elections, including the transition options, until
the standards are initially applied in that interim financial report.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related interpretations.
The new standard introduces a single accounting model for
lessees. For lessees the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions
for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). HKFRS 16
carries forward the accounting requirements for lessors in HKAS
17 substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore continue to
classify leases as operating or finance leases.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2019. The Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year
prior to first adoption.

The Group’s leases of offices and staff quarters are currently
classified as operating leases and the lease payments (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under
HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise and measure a
liability at the present value of the future minimum lease
payments and recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset for
these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability and
depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be recognised in profit
or loss. The Group’s assets and liabilities will increase and the
timing of expense recognition will also be impacted as a result.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases for its offices and staff quarters
amounted to a total of approximately HK$4,531,000 as at 31
March 2019. The Group will need to perform a more detailed
assessment in order to determine the new assets and liabilities
arising from these operating leases commitments after taking into
account the transition reliefs available in HKFRS 16 and the
effects of discounting.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets, the Group expects that the transition adjustments to be
made upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 16 will not be material.
However, the expected changes in accounting policies as
described above could have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements from 2019 onwards.

HK (IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation of HKAS 12 Income Taxes sets out how to
apply that standard when there is uncertainty about income tax
treatments. Entities are required to determine whether uncertain
tax treatments should be assessed separately or as a group
depending on which approach will better predict the resolution of
the uncertainties. Entities will have to assess whether it is
probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. If yes, the accounting treatment will be consistent with
the entity’s income tax filings. If not, however, entities are
required to account for the effects of the uncertainty using either
the most likely outcome or expected value method depending on
which method is expected to better predict its resolution.

The Group is unable to estimate the impact of the interpretation
on the consolidated financial statements until a more detailed
assessment has been completed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 5.

A summary of the significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

(@) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting year as that of the Company. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to
determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains and continue to be consolidated until the date when such
control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary determined on the date
when control is lost; and (ii) the carrying amount of the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated amounts in other comprehensive income.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intragroup transactions, balances, income and expenses and
profits and losses are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling
shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.
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4.

(b)

920

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. FESTTEEK(E)

() Property, plant and equipment () ¥ BERZE
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less M -~ BB RERE TR AR 25T E RRE
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an BRI - W% BRERXEEE ZKAER
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase FEREERREZEEEZTHRTRASR 2
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to EARR R B 2 (E A B G A -

its working condition and location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or EE IR B AN RREEN R EERARE
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is - BIRB W ANBES R SRt E R - HIERAR
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item SHAEERBENERE —BHEBEYEE
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured (W@ M) - FTE BB IERIRERANREES
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the B EAFIE 1B 2 N AERR o

profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at ME - BEREETEDREGA T ERAFY
rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual values 2R DA S E B AR IR B E M L R A B R E
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The FE - BUAEAZEEFENT :

principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Depreciation rate

wE=E
Furniture and fixtures R EE 20%
Biometric identification devices EVRSEGERRIEE 20%
Motor vehicles bak:: 30%
Computer equipment EN B 20%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are FIgrEE - AMERFHRTETERN SRS
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each RETIRA RAEH B R (AER) -
reporting period.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon WE - BERREERENHERRRHESS
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to REREETSE SR TALEM SR L L7
arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss on R AHEWE - WFE REEMES 2 Wk
disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference BERAHEMGIRFRERAMEERTEL
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the RMERE  YNARER K LERNFENER
relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss in the year in = AR ©
which the item is derecognised.

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (d) ®|EEEEERM)

Intangible assets acquired are measured on initial recognition at BANELEENY S EREIRKATE - &
cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be WEEMNAERFHTERERIER - FH
whether finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are BROETEEBRNAERCEFHRNE
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and o HERBANRBRNELEE LR
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the WE A FERAFHERNEREENBIEFH
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and N ER S RERRRT -

the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
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92

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(C)

(€

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred. With respect
to staff costs incurred directly attributable to solution service
income, it will be regarded as cost of sales and charged to profit
or loss of the Group accordingly.

Software development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis
over the commercial lives of the underlying products not
exceeding five years, commencing from the date when the
software are put into commercial production.

Leases

The Group as lessee

i) Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

(ii) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as
finance leases. At the commencement of the lease term, a
finance lease is capitalised at the lower of the fair value of
the leased asset and the present value of the minimum
lease payments, each determined at the inception of the
lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
statement of financial position as finance lease payable.
Finance charges which represent the difference between
the total leasing commitments and the fair value of the
assets acquired, are allocated to each period during the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same as
owned assets over the shorter of the lease term and their
estimated useful lives.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

(9)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis and
comprise all costs of purchase and, where applicable, cost of
conversion and other costs that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. When
inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised in the profit or loss in the period of write-down or loss
occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories recognised as an increment in the amount of
inventories and recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

ZEEMREBARAF / F#2019

4,

TEERBER(E)

()

(9

FE

T & TR A B ] B IRFHE 2 BRIRE AR © X
ARAEALHEEEE L BIEMEBAKRAE
Ko (i@ ) B AN A R E A BUEF B AL E
BB AT E AR Z A - A ZFERER
BEBBETNEFESEREEE T TAME
AR BTRIEEMBOMETRA - BEFEE
HIE - Z5F &0 REENERA E s B
M- BIFEMBE R ERFENSEITE
TR S IR OB BB 1R 3 AR BRI N 1R 2 O B
o (AR 7 B URL Y 18 [ 2 R 570 35 A 1k e B4R
BEBRGEAERSTFESTIBM -

BRARKLEIESHITA

SREEMERABENASETRNATAA
BB Z AT T R AR & BN R HER -

SREENERAGEV SRR THERE - R
FHERE - SREENERBEZRFESN
EFEHRECGRERME) ARERETERE
EReBAEEAFEFARGHNEREE
RemaEhin) MEREENRZSKA -
Wi A HEF ARG EREELSRAE
MEKELHNRZRAGENERIRRHER

AEBEEEREEWRDRB DR ENE N E
o RREERSREEMEERARNER
BoRBREOFERES B8R e
HRZEREE WA S E I EE R E S
BRNBRID R KL EHR - W AEEEH D
REE  AAKEeRREEENRERG N
HAge A S EAEHEE - MASER
BOERSREERBRNEAT D RERRE
B AAEESEEERZSNEE TR
REMERENFERER -

93



Notes to the Financial Statements

PRSI

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3 A3 HILFE

4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt instruments
Debt instruments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective interest
method.

— FVTOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

U]

0

(k)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt investments (continued)

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Goup has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for expected credit loss (‘ECL”).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

V)

(m)

(n)

()

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of biometric identification devices, security
products and other accessories is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the buyer’s specific location (delivery). Under the
Group’s standard contract terms, customers are entitled to a
one-year free warranty. At the point of sale, a contract liability
and corresponding adjustment to revenue is recognised,
representing the unfulfilled performance obligation of the warranty
services. The contract liability would be recognised as income on
a straight-line basis over the warranty period.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from provision of solution, installation and other services
are recognised when the relevant services are rendered and
delivered to customers.

Revenue from maintenance services are recognised on a
straight-basis over the term of the maintenance period.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset.

Policy prior to 1 April 2018

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably.

i) Sales of goods
Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised on the
transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered and the title has passed to the customers.

(ii) Service revenue
Service revenue comprises revenue from (I) provision of
solution services; (Il) maintenance and other services; and
(1) software licensing income.

Revenue from provision of solution services is recognised
when relevant services are delivered to customers.

Income from maintenance and other services is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
maintenance and other service contracts. Payments
received or receivable in respect of maintenance and other
services which have not been completed on or before the
end of the reporting period are shown in the statement of
financial position as deferred income.

Software licensing income is recognised on an accrual
basis in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
licensing agreement.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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4.

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(@)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
()  Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

()

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(i)
(il

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

100

The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where an
asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are
credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade
receivables. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

102

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Company’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(iii) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade” in
accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019

4. FEEFEEE)

(u)

TREEREE)

EERERBEZEE N (&)

. BB AELMEE - LB RIRBE
B LRGSR EERNTNES - &
HEBANGEHEEEIBEETR -

T Ll FHE SR - AERERR - BEEHONK
BHIERBI0H - MBS HERARERE E
MEERRCEREEN  RIELEEEEER
BRENEMERIERR -

BEWML - ARERRZRHESBRTAREER
HREREERBERE  MANSERURE
BT ANEERRAFRBEZZIM - HEHH
LTER - BeRTAUREERAFGEEE
[

() SRTAEMZORRRE :

(i) EBARCHARTAAOREAERT
HIREI58 ¢ M

(i) RERAERBOINZENEERENR
EFOARETN - EEREERAETA
WEREEERES -

AEERE  WEREERBRRRRERTE
EORERR ] INEETE - BIERE
EAREEERR - S SmINPRTARA A
AIFFEEAR [RIF] REFFE - RifE
HF TP BANRE - B Ea IR o

AEEFHRERANBIEERBRETARE
EMERENBRIE - WEEEHEEEET
AR ZIF LR IR B AT 3R E B AR 2
BAHEBEEM -

103



Notes to the Financial Statements

PRSI

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3 A3 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

104

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

o The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn
down in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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4.

106

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Prior to 1 April 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether
its financial assets (other than those at FVTPL) are impaired,
based on objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition, the estimated
future cash flows of the (group of) financial asset(s) have been
affected.

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired
individually, the Group assesses them collectively for impairment,
based on the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the delayed payments in the portfolio, observable
changes in economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly
reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the amount of
the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed (either directly or by adjusting the
allowance account for trade receivables) through profit or loss.
However, the reversal must not result in a carrying amount that
exceeds what the amortised cost of the financial asset would
have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date
the impairment is reversed.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.
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(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(w) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not
appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart
from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to
12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the
credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward looking information.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@) Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets (other than goodwill)
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation/amortisation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. These
estimates are based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets of similar nature and functions. The Group
will revise the depreciation/amortisation charges where useful
lives and residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in depreciable/amortisable lives
of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets and therefore depreciation/amortisation in the future
periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets as at 31 March 2019 were approximately
HK$1,816,000 and HK$119,000 (2018: HK$1,036,000 and
HK$168,000) respectively.

(b)  Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

During the year, approximately HK$259,000 (2018:
HK$3,222,000) of income tax was charged to profit or loss
based on the estimated assessable profits.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

©

(@)

Allowance for inventories

Allowance for inventories is made based on the ageing, change
in the market conditions and estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back
in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

During the year, allowance for inventories of approximately
HK$386,000 was charged to profit or loss (2018: reversal of
allowance for inventories of approximately HK$99,000).

Allowance for trade and other receivables

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the
management of the Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that trade and
other receivables are impaired. The provision policy for bad and
doubtful debts of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions of
customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowance may be required.

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables was approximately HK$12,354,000 and
HK$2,444,000 respectively.

Since the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of impairment
loss for ECL on trade and other receivables based on the credit
risk of trade and other receivables. The amount of the impairment
loss based on ECL model is measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are
less than expected, or being revised downward due to changes
in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables was approximately HK$9,691,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of approximately HK$178,000) and
HK$2,706,000 respectively.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.
(@) Foreign currency risk
The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally
denominated in HK$, Renminbi (‘RMB”) and Macau Pataca
(“MOP”). The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
respective Group’s entities such as United States dollars (‘US$”)
and RMB.

The directors of the Company is of the opinion that the HK$ is
pegged against the US$ and MOP and the risk of movements in
exchange rates between HK$ and US$; and HK$ and MOP to
be insignificant. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed
on the movements in exchange rates between HK$ and US$;
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and HK$ and MOP. Whilst, the sensitivity analysis of the Group’s N
foreign currency risk exposure in respect of RMB is set out
below:
Functional (Decrease)/
currency increase in
strengthened/ consolidated (loss)/
(weakened) by profit after tax
BREEES
ThEEE ¥ (B518),5 7
FHE(BE) CGRi2), /i
HK$'000
FAT
Year ended 31 March 2018 HZE2018F3A31 HILFE 5%/(5%) 7/(7)Nete) (i)
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ2019F3A31HLLEE 5%/(5%) (11)/11Note) (Hizz)

Note: This is mainly a result of foreign exchange gain/(loss) on bank
deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables
denominated in RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits and bank
balances included in the consolidated statement of financial
position represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to its financial assets.

The Group has no concentration of credit risk.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. The credit quality of
the counterparties in respect of trade and other receivables is
assessed by taking into account their financial position, credit
history and other factors. Given the constant repayment history,
the directors are of the opinion that the risk of default by these
counterparties is low.

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control
relating to customer credit risk management. Individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 90 days
from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than
1 month past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and other
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

For other receivables, the directors of the Group make periodic
collectively assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables. The Group has assessed that
the ECL of other receivables is insignificant as at 31 March 2019
under 12-month ECL model and therefore no loss allowance
provision was recognised.

The credit risk on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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6.

112

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(©

(d)

)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits and borrowings. These bank deposits and borrowings
bear interests at floating rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end of
reporting period, its income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

6.

B EREE(E)
(€ F=EkR

AR MR AOF AR S RTFRRER -
HERITER RSB RTTR S
FHFEI 8 -

B baiESN  AEBERFERRLEEMEKR
FREBENEE  EWARKZREREAR
EBIRTIGNENES

Liquidity risk (d) REBELSER
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected REENBE AT RSN RIEHRNREE
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient SHFE  DBREARS ARG R R
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short NBESFRKNRHE
and longer term.
As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity of the Group’s RE|EHR  AEEeRAaENIHERAK
financial liabilities are on demand or due within one year. ZRFIN—FAEE] -
Categories of financial instruments at 31 March (e) M3B3MHEHHMEHMI AR
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Financial assets: SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised costs REER AR REE 80,595 89,556
Financial liabilities: SRAE:
Financial liabilities at amortised costs REHEKATIRNCRAE 5,897 6,664
Fair values n 2F¥E

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.

AEENDREE RSB BERGRE MBI
FRREFREEEE S AN D FEES
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7.

[E %

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has two reportable segments as follows:

— Sales of biometrics identification devices, security products and
other accessories

— Provision of auxiliary and other services includes (i) maintenance,
installation and solution services; and (i) software licensing.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer
different products and services. They are managed separately because
each business requires different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Segment profits or losses do not include other income, finance costs,
unallocated costs, which comprise selling and distribution expenses,
corporate administrative and other operating expenses, and income tax
expense.

Segment assets and liabilities are not presented in the consolidated
financial statements as they are not regularly reviewed by the Group’s
directors.

(@ Operating segment of the Group
Information about reportable segment profit or loss:

7 EBER
AEENRET2RAIHWT :

- HELVERESEE  RLERLEMEMT

- RHEEREMGRS - B #E  LRRE

RTTEIRS ¢ K (i) BAFRFAT

REBE R R 28D G075 R RE & K RF A R
HEBEA - ANEEBEFT R &L= HER
HE2HDHTIEGER -

KED B EE BORBR A B ISR M T 4 Pl & 48
A - %‘EBmﬂYEﬂET@%E{‘MﬁU\ MAERAS ~ R
DEERA (AP BEHEERDHM - CETBREE
R EFIARABHAS)

H

DEHBERBERESAVBRETEY - HESE
WAERHAEEE=EHA -

(@ AKEEEDH
BRR2WABIBBNER -

Sales of biometrics
identification
devices, security Provision of
products and other auxiliary and
accessories other services Total
HEENEH
HEIRE -
RZEM REBRER
REMEH H At iR A #@st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THET TR
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ201953831 ALLEE
Revenue from external customers KEINPRP Bz 34,811 16,067 50,878
Segment profit Pakziyeyl 16,080 9,744 25,824
Year ended 31 March 2018 Z2018F3A31HLEE
Revenue from external customers REINPE PR K E 47,912 23,151 71,063
Segment profit A EE 26,495 15,552 42,047
Other segment information: EMpEEs
Depreciation Tﬁ% - 61 61
DR EEERAR / F52019 113
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

7. HERE)
(@) Operating segment of the Group (continued) (@)
Reconciliations of reportable segment and profit or loss:

REEEE DI (E)

A2 BB AR

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Profit or loss: Ei=E e

Total profit of reportable segments Al 2D PHREFI LR 25,824 42,047
Other income Hbug A 702 230
Selling and distribution costs SHE R A (5,749) (5,121)

Corporate administrative and other ETRREMEERY
operating expenses (21,976) (29,645)
Finance costs B RS AN (28) (75)
Income tax expense FSBiRX (259) (3,222)
Consolidated (loss)/profit for the year FRERE (B18), w5 F (1,486) 4,214

(b) Geographical information

(b)

Information about the Group’s non-current assets based on the

geographical location is presented as follows:

& &

FRAREEEMRLECE 2 FRBDEEER

5T

2019 2018

2019 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Hong Kong aBE 1,682 1,198
PRC F 253 6
Consolidated total bRE KB 1,935 1,204

Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets.
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HE2019F3 A3 HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. 2HER(E)
(b) Geographical information (continued) (b) HEER (E)
Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers BARSEIRCERRAE 2 RE IR
presented based on the geographical location where the Group Pz ER 25T

operates is as follows:

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Hong Kong BB 38,432 56,930
PRC S 7,847 7,405
Macau R P 4,599 6,728
Consolidated total REBET 50,878 71,063
() Information about major customers () BEFTEREFNESR
During the year, no transaction with a single customer amounts FR - WEES-XPEITHRZHIERNEER
to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue (2018: Nil). Accordingly, #@10% s LA £ (20184F « &) - At - WESE
no major customer is presented. NEERS o
8. REVENUE 8. W&
Revenue represents the invoiced values of goods sold and service W ATE M R IR H RS AR E S RITNE A%
rendered, after allowances for returns and discounts. An analysis of the ZE o AEEFAREHDTOT
Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Sales of biometrics identification devices, HEEMSEBERIERE
security products and other accessories IR%EE an S A AL 34,811 47,912
Provision of auxiliary and other services RIEE M E MRS 16,067 23,151
50,878 71,063
2019 2018
2019 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Timing for revenue recognition 1t 25 7 5 9 B FHET FAT
Products and services transferred at a R R 80 E b R ARTE
point of time 36,478 60,731
Services transferred over time BE b R 822 M RIS 14,400 10,332
50,878 71,063
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8. REVENUE (continued) 8. W= (#|)
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect AEERARFEEENLEAT BV B REERSE

method. Under this method, the comparative information is not restated
and was prepared in accordance with HKAS 18 and HKAS 11.

1655 « IRIBULTE - LLIERWEES - EREE
BEFEREA1SE LA BT ERE 11 RREER -

9. OTHER INCOME 9. Haug A
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Interest income FEUA 636 4

Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - BE REEWE

plant and equipment 29 212
Others Hith 37 14
702 230

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. MR
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Interest on import/export loans ®/HOERAE 28 75
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11. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 11. BRBIAT (B518), %7
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is stated after charging/(crediting) AEBBRTR(BER),SEF ek GEA) LT &
the following: IB1EFBK -
2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HizF FTHET FHTT
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 18) EZ& FE#E Y (M1 18) 49 48
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB KRBT E (Mt 17)
equipment (note 17) (@ 957 589
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRA(BREESHE)
emoluments) (b)
— Salaries, bonus, allowances and — e B4 SRR R
other benefits in kind HihEYHI= (c) 21,014 18,201
— Commission — e 673 1,183
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIKEFFTBIHK
contributions 1,165 1,074
22,852 20,458
Write off of property, plant and equipment #5473 « /= R&E 1 -
Gain on disposals of property, HEME - BB K& ERE
plant and equipment (29) (212
Cost of inventories sold BEFERAR 17,815 22,613
Foreign exchange losses, net B i 518 % 58 252 121
Listing expenses EmAX - 12,238
Operating lease charges in respect of Y EERESH
premises (c) 2,002 1,787
Auditors’ remuneration %M < 504 300
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 EWRIEREE B 178 -
Allowance for inventories/ FERE(BERE)
(reversal of allowance) 386 (99)
Notes: Wizt
(@) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of HK$Nil (2018: (@ HE201943A31HILFE W% BEREZER
approximately HK$61,000) for the year ended 31 March 2019 is included EETHIT(20184 « #961,000/870)aT ASHEM A ©

in cost of sales.

(b) Included in staff cost approximately HK$5,409,000 for the year ended 31 (b) HZE2019F3A3MBIEFE EIRAMBELN
March 2019 (2018: HK$4,311,000) is included in cost of sales. 5,409,000 7T (2018 4F : 4,311,000 7T ) 5t A&
BRAR o
(©) Included in operating lease charges in respect of premises of (© HZE2019F3AGIHILEFE  MEILEHESY
approximately HK$498,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: #7498,0007% 7t (2018 4F : 360,000 7 7T ) &t A B Tk
HK$360,000) is included in salaries, bonus, allowances and other benefits AREFHE  TEA - R R EMEDFIE -

in kind of staff costs.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12. FREHiBEX

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ENEATRIE — BEFIEH
Provision for the year FABE 390 3,138
Over-provision in prior years BEFEREARE (77) (71)
313 3,067

Macao Complementary Tax SRPIFTS IR

Provision for the year FRNEE 83 155
Over-provision in prior years BEF RS (137) -
(54) 155
Total tax charge for the year FRMREEB AR 259 3,222

The Group is not subject to taxation in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from the current year, one of the subsidiaries of
the Company is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 8.25%
for the first HK$2 million of estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. Other
subsidiaries of the Company are subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at
the rate of 16.5% for the year ended 31 March 2019.

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in the PRC is
subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% (2018: 25%)
during the year. No PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided as
the Group’s PRC subsidiary either did not generate any assessable
profits or has sufficient tax losses brought forward to offset against its
assessable profits generated during the years ended 31 March 2019
and 2018.

REBBEGNHASEHS NABELEBNHIA

201843 A21 H BB ELBIB2017 FRB(E
) (BrH)EPIER((HRAIER]) - £33 ABLH
FIBFHEGIE - EHERN2018F3 A28 AFEMK
BERWRBATEFR o RIRM R HFS B =5
o AEREEEENE2HEBLENEILZS.25%
M RER - MBR2 B 8BTrEFIEIZ16.5% M
BMEEH - THEMBHFEHEHEEROEEE
BER) S RIS 4B 12 16.5% MO B — R R BT E o

Eit - AAFER - AARER BB A RARS
SHERBHFNE2E BB ITIR8.25% MEHME S
MEH - WHtRiB2 B BB T/l 5T FE R B s Flik
16.5% BT = MM B ARG - B Z 201993 A 31
HIEFE - AR A EANE A RIZER 16.5% KIF R4
MEBFIGH

FR - ANEEE P B KA S IS A B BIRR R
25% (20184F : 25%) BN R Bl PS5t o MM Et
RPBECEMSH - RAEDASEEHSTENBA R
EHZE20194F 201843 A 31 AL FE W ME £ 111
JERRBUR A - INEEAE S B AT IB RS 1B LA G P EE AR TR
RBURF o
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

12,

For the Group’s subsidiary established and operated in Macau is

subject to Macao Complementary Tax, under which taxable income of
up to MOP600,000 (2018: MOP600,000) is exempted from taxation
with taxable income beyond this amount to be taxed at the rate of 12%
(2018: 12%) for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of
(loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of

the Group is as follows:

FriS®ipax (%)

NS BB PIR L R A & BT B A R ZABARPIFTS
WER - HE2019F K 2018F3 A1 HILFE © B
% B U A & = 600,000 8 P9 % (2018 4F + 600,000 32
PIBE) BA LB - BB Z S M ERBAIZ12%

(20184F : 12%) F9FR R M T o

FAS TR S BRI B AT (B518),IE FISR A R B EEF

BREMSHZ BENVERET

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT FET

(Loss)/profit before tax BrEiAT (E518), % T (1,227) 7,436
Tax at the domestic tax rate of 16.5% R K 16.5% (2018 4F : 16.5%)

(2018: 16.5%) SHERHIE (202) 1,227
Tax effect of income that is not taxable TRBBRAOTR B E (201) (96)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible THEMRAL R G T2 925 2,240
Tax effect of temporary differences not AEREHERENTR BT E

recognised 64 (16)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not BRBTRERTBEENHNGETE

previously recognised (55) 32
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR BERBORETE - 42
Over-provision in prior years BEFEERERE (214) (71)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MEAR TR ERNTZE (3) (72)
Tax effect of preferential tax rate BEREOTGTE (55) -
Income tax expense for the year FRETEHRS 259 3,222
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEREEMHS
(@) Directors’ emoluments (@ =ZE=#e
The emoluments paid or payable in respect a person’s services B SEMREERRA RIS EMBRARER 2
as a director, whether of the Company, or its subsidiaries BEEZALTZMES0T :

undertaking were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZE201953A31HLEE
Retirement
Salaries Other benefits
and Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees allowances bonus inkind contributions Total
Hity RAER
ne HeREE BEEA BORE FHER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TET TET TET THT TET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony P& k&
(“Mr. Tony Yuen’) ([EEEE]) - 1,060 555 498 18 2,131
Ms. Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline ER L
(‘Ms. Pauline Yuen’) WE33:&4) - 1,030 454 - 18 1,502
Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle BRIk Lt - 330 300 - 15 645
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph ERALLE 240 - - - 12 252
Independent non-executive BUKHTES
directors
Mr. Hui Man Ho HUERE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chung Billy BRELE 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen ST 5ot 120 - - - - 120
600 2,420 1,309 498 63 4,890
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEREEME (E)
(continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (@ =ZE=M<(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BZE2018F3A31HLEFE
Retirement
Salaries Other benefits
and  Discretionary benefits scheme
Fees allowances bonus inkind  contributions Total
Hit RIRIBH
we  HeEH BETIEAL EiEF BEESA ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FERT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Tony Yuen PRl %k - 660 232 361 18 1,271
Ms. Pauline Yuen [TE3E - 804 145 - 18 967
Ms. Sun Ngai Chu, Danielle FERIEL L - 240 - - 12 252
Non-executive directors FHUTES
Mr. Yam Chiu Fan, Joseph (i) EBREAE( 240 - - - 12 252
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Hui Man Ho (i) S S A i) 15 - - - - 15
Mr. Chung Bill (i) BB 15 - - - - 15
Mr. Mui Pak Kuen (i sz e () 15 - - - - 15
285 1,704 377 361 60 2,787
Notes: Biat -

i Redesignated as non-executive director from executive director on [0} R2017F4 1AM BTESERT AL

1 April 2017 FEE
(ii) Appointed on 18 January 2018 (ii) R20184%1 A 18 HEZR (T
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or REZE2019F 20183 A1 HIEFE » I
agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 mEEHRENRERETAWNESHOLH -

March 2019 and 2018.
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2019 included 2 (2018: 2) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments of the remaining 3 (2018: 3) individuals are set out

13.

EEkESHE (R)

(b)

AluBEEHMAL
HE2019F3A3ALFE  AEBRMNF
BEFIATHBIRIE2E (20184  28)EF -
HeE L 25O D MPRER - HER35
(20184 : 3%&) ATwB&#EHT|AT

below:
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FaET FAET
Basic salaries and allowances EARE & K2 2,526 2,876
Performance bonus FRIRTEAL 494 142
Retirement benefits scheme contributions REMETEIER 51 54
3,071 3,072
The emoluments fell within the following band: BRTHIEENES
Number of individuals
AE
2019 2018
2019 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T 1,500,000 7 7T 1 1
3 3

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or
the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

122
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

14.

15.

[E %

©

(d)

Senior management’s emoluments

Senior management represents the executive directors. The
emoluments paid or payable to senior management during the
years have been set out in the analysis presented above.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save for disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transaction, arrangement and contract
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year of at any time during
the year.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend had been paid or declared by the Company during the year

(2018: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
THE EQUITY OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

(@)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the
following:

13.

14.

15.

EEkESHE (R)

) BEREEEME

SREBEENTES - FRAENAENER
EEENMSCEHN EX2IRDHT -

d EERXREZ ZHASNTNERES

Brira M mARMEICMBEESS  MER
RARFNODERRRES R ESWENEE
HEERERRAE A EAEEELE
HHEAR S » W REHORFRIFAEM
BRI TR -

BE
7R R4 PO 4 4 3 R 5 4 IR 8. (2018 -
).

=

ERARERBEEARGER (BR) B

@ BREX(ERB) BT
FREAR(ER) / BRNIDERTISEAE

2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(Loss)/earnings (E518) & F
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of calculating & &R EARZE T (E518), E 7
basic earnings per share (1,486) 4,214
123
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15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 15. ZAAREREAEABRGER (SE) EX
EQUITY OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (continued) (%&)
(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (continued) (@ BEBREXRGER)BRGE)
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Number of shares B2 5
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning FEREBITE @A (FaF)
of year (note) 800,000,000 600,000,000
Effect of issue of new shares under the RIERR (D B EBEITHAR D BY
share offer (note 28(c)) S (ff7E28(c) = 25,205,479
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st &G ER (Ei8), BFH
for the purpose of calculating basic (loss)/ A hn A S 1S 2R
earnings per share 800,000,000 625,205,479
Note: Issued ordinary shares of the Company as at 1 April 2017 is on the HiaE : ARAR2017F4B1AMBEITEBRT
assumption that 600,000,000 ordinary shares, being the number {52 5% 600,000,000 % & 38 i (BN 2 BE 47 & 81 7%
of shares in issue immediately after the completion of share KM 7F 28(0) S IR 1D B AL SERRERE
capitalisation as detailed in note 28(b) to the consolidated financial BITRMHEB ) HRABE2017F 4 A1 BigE
statements, deemed to have been issued since 1 April 2017. QAT -
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) EESRK(EBRE) BF
No diluted (loss)/earnings per share are presented as the BEZ5ESER(518)/&F - BAKAR]
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares REZE2019F 20184 3 A31 H I FE W
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. BATIEIMO RS B LB -
16. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 16. RIREFIGHE
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF AEBEREE SR ABSFHEGH AEBHEE
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes ERESEERNEAESE([RESFE]) - K
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s SEHBESHEACHRIZST SR ITENS%E -
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of the salaries MEZREES AHZS 2 A1,500% T(20184F :
and wages subject to a monthly maximum amount of HK$1,500 (2018: 1,500 7T ) RAE M58 18 & 51 8| 51 2 20 H B N e
HK$1,500) per employee and vest fully with employees when 8o
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
As stipulated under the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, the RAE P BIFEREAR B SUE R - AR B BRI P
employees of a Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC is a member REIHE B 2045 1 BUTEER F RB RS EHE o
of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal ZWBARAMRRERSHEIZEEEAFTERT
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage EWETEOLER  UARKEFREES -
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central pension MR EBEAEZRBARMEHRAE RARRKEER
scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government FERIREFIEE - ZMMEB A RISt RBERSEHEIFKE
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing —HEREMNEETRENERK -
and future retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of
this subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.
There was no forfeited contribution in respect of the defined contribution 2019 F K% 20184 3 A 31 HIN A FEEFETEINE
plan available at 31 March 2019 and 2018. SRR AT T o
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% BERRE
Biometrics
Furniture identification Motor Computer
and fixtures devices vehicles equipment Total
EMBHE
BRREE HAHE "E E B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET FAET TET FET
Cost B
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 818 149 313 1,853 507 2,822
Additions NE 50 - 466 171 687
Disposals & - - (720) - (720)
Exchange realignment [ 7 SR 3 - - 15 18
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 201843 A31 B R
2018F 4 A1H 202 313 1,599 693 2,807
Additions wE 716 - 808 200 1,724
Disposals HE - - (161) - (161)
Write off HigH (10) - - (12) (22)
Exchange realignment ERRE 16 - - (1) 15
At 31 March 2019 M201953A31H 924 313 2,246 880 4,363
Accumulated depreciation ZiIFE
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 818 126 252 1,152 355 1,885
Charge for the year FRZH 15 61 369 144 589
Disposals HE - - (720) - (720)
Exchange realignment [ 5 3R 3 - - 14 17
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 A 201843 A31 B %
20184 F1H 144 313 801 513 1,771
Charge for the year FRZH 130 - 625 202 957
Disposals HE - - (161) - (161)
Write off HisH (10) = - (11) (1)
Exchange realignment ERAZE 2 = = (1) 1
At 31 March 2019 M2019453A31H 266 313 1,265 703 2,547
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2019 RH2019%3A31H 658 - 981 177 1,816
At 31 March 2018 R2018F 3 A31H 58 - 798 180 1,036
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18.

19.

126

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. EEE
HK$’000
FET
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and R2017F4H1H 20183 HA31H »
31 March 2019 20184 A1 HKX2019F3 A31 H 1,850
Accumulated amortisation Rty
At 1 April 2017 MR2017F4A1H 1,634
Charge for the year FAZMH 48
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R2018F3 A31H X 2018 4 A1H 1,682
Charge for the year FRZH 49
At 31 March 2019 A2019F 3831 H 1,731
Carrying amount BRMEE
At 31 March 2019 A2019%3H31H 119
At 31 March 2018 H20184F3HA31H 168

BIEERENBELEZEAMERFFHERE « ZET
BEEFERAERFHTIREROEN S F R -

Intangible assets represent internally generated capitalised software
development costs. Such intangible assets have definite useful life and
are amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

INVENTORIES 19. FE
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Merchandises [Ehn) 21,393 18,919

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories are stated at P|REHR  NEEFERKANRTFEREIIE -

cost less allowance for inventories.

FR - 7 EREL386,0008 TE R (2018
F o FEREHED4999,00087T) -

During the year, allowance for inventories of approximately HK$386,000
was charged to profit or loss (2018: reversal of allowance for inventories
of approximately HK$99,000).
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Long Yield, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, in which Mr. Tony
Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are directors.

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The
credit period granted to the customers generally range from 30 to 90
days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of allowance

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EZEWFE

2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET F#IT
From third parties RKEE=ZH 9,869 12,342
Less: allowance for doubtful debts o REERE (178) -
9,691 12,342
From a related party B — % R = 12
9,691 12,354

Analysis of trade receivables due from a related party: PR — B RARE T M E 2 RAMGTIR A -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FiT
Long Yield Company Limited (‘Long Yield”) BieaRAR([ER]) - 12

fEian—MERBEMAIZAOAR - HhEELLE

Kk Lt RES -

FAEEREFNESGEITIERRIE - AEPRHN
EEH RN FB0E0H - REEREHEREE
FEUCRIRETTRARES] - AR EREHEM -

AEEZER B ENE SR UGR (MR R

for doubtful debts and based on the invoice date is as follows: ) HOBRER DATAN T -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
0-90 days 0E 90Kk 5,629 9,518
91-180 days 91 2180k 2,091 2,021
181-365 days 181 £ 365X 1,709 667
Over 365 days 365 KA E 262 148
9,601 12,354
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20.

128

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

As of 31 March 2019, trade receivables of approximately HK$7,817,000
(2018: HK$5,608,000) were past due but not impaired. These trade
receivables related to customers for whom there was no recent history
of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables, net of
allowance for doubtful debts and based on due date, is as follows:

20. EZEWRIE(E)

HZE2019F3A31H - & 5 EWFIAE 7,817,000
770 (2018 4F = 5,608,000/ L) B EMERBE © %
EEFRUGRERYEIIHENCENESEE - Z
LEZREWIE (B RERE) LI HATENR
RN

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Within 90 days 90K A 4,305 4,190
90-180 days 90E 180K 2,464 855
Over 180 days 180 KA E 1,048 563
7,817 5,608

The Group does not charge interest or hold any collateral over these
balances.

The Group applied simplified approach to provide the ECL as
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The impairment methodology is set out in
notes 4(u) and 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group assesses the
impairment for its customers based on different group of customers
which share common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. Details of the credit risk assessment are included in
note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

AR5 [0 £ A 5% S A BRI B SRS A AR R R -

AEEEAMOERBBUHREEREIRNRE
SHEEHEEER - BEDEHRE S P HRAM T
4(u) K2 6(b) °

ERASEEERREEN &0 FEBRETR
BERRARRBEEBNEFPEFEESRE B
REREPRRENGIINMERMFENGES - &
REERBRGNFEENGS M BRRMED) -
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Lifetime ECL that has been recognised in accordance with simplified

20. EZEWRIE(E)

RIBBBYHEREEREIRABNBERRNE

approach set out in HKFRS 9 is as follows: HEHEERENT

2019 2018

2019 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

FaET F#IT

At beginning of the year REH] = -

Allowance for the year FEREME 178 -

At end of the year RER 178 -
To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on BiTEEHEEBE  EHRWENZEREER

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECL also

R aE B E A - AR E B R E AR

incorporate forward looking information. Bt e
Up to 3to 6 Over
3 months months 6 months
Current past due past due past due Total
B B3 bt
BN H#A 3EAR Z6MA 6AKNEL st
At 31 March 2019 MR2019F3A31H
Weighted average expected  JN#EF19FE HAEIE R
loss rate - - 0.4% 13.9%
Receivable amount (HK$’000) & W 318 (T8 1) 1,874 4,305 2,473 1,217 9,869
Loss allowance (HK$'000) @& E (TET) - - ©) (169) (178)
EZE N R EmMARAR / £152019 129
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. ESEWFIE (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables at the end of RBEHRR - AEEB HRKFIA (MR REE®)
reporting period, net of allowance for doubtful debts, are denominated MEREEA T BB EHE -

in the following currencies:

2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
HK$ BT 8,014 11,420
RMB AR 330 356
MOP SR 1,347 578
9,691 12,354
21. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 21. HEWRIE EARERERS
DEPOSITS
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Deposits b 1,765 915
Prepayments BRI RIE 749 1,299
Value added tax receivables FEWIE(E TR 158 180
Others EHb 34 50
2,706 2,444
Neither of the above assets is past due nor impaired. The financial FitAEWARBBHSORE  FHA LSS SREE
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which TH R T R R EL SR A0 EUMURIR A B

there was no recent history of default.
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22, RERMBITHEE
At the end of reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the R|EBR  AEENR e RIRITTERIE TGS
Group are denominated in the following currencies: | :

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

HK$ BT 67,329 75,052

RMB AR 1,536 1,107

MOP SRPIEE 627 108

Us$ E 842 570

70,334 76,837

The RMB is not free convertible into other currencies. However, under
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through

banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

ARBTAIERAAREMER - R REFPEA
RAMBIMEE SHEPIRAE  EERNEEER

o AR B T
RM A A -

THNEEERITHA

23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. BEZEMNRE
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables at the end of reporting RIERR  RBEEZEHTENAERE S EMNKE
period, based on the invoice date is as follows: BRI DT -
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
0-30 days 0E 30K 1,977 2,226
31-60 days 31E60K 939 104
Over 60 days 60 KA L 6 47
2,922 2,377
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables at the end of RMERR - AEBE FHENRIBNRAEBENLTIE
reporting period are denominated in the following currencies: HEEHE -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
HKS$ BT 1,827 1,547
RMB AR 54 215
US$ T 934 615
European dollar BT 107 -
2,922 2,377
2R S E AR AR / F 82010 131
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24. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND 24, HEMAFE CSRREREFTER
ACCRUED EXPENSES
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Deposits received from customers BREFES 2,563 1,376
Accruals for operations 4B e B 2,971 4,236
Others Hith 4 51
5,538 5,663
25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (2018: DEFERRED 25, S#EE(20184F  IEIEW A)
INCOME)
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
Contract liabilities/deferred revenue ANEEEERE 5,168 3,729

The amounts represent the receipts from sales of maintenance and
warranty services exceed the revenue recognised on straight-line basis

over the respective terms of contract.

Movement in contract liabilities/deferred revenue:

BRHIPTHERM A EED ©

o>

HWaRE/ EITREOES

THEREERRERGHEERABBIZERENER

2019
2019 F
HK$’000
FTHET
Balance at 31 March 2018 7R 20184 3 A 31 HW & 3,729
Impact of initial adoption of HKFRS 15 RN B BV RELERNE 15T E 2,588
Balance at 1 April 2018 R20184F 4 A1 B & # 6,317
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising AF AR (FF AR 2018F 4 A1 HH
revenue during the year was included in the contract EHABE) MEBHMNENEERD
liabilities as at 1 April 2018 (6,183)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing i E MREREIRAF L EEmERY
in advance of maintenance/warranty services EHEEEM
5,034
Balance at 31 March 2019 20194 3 A 31 B 5,168

132
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25.

26.

04k

ELE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (2018: DEFERRED 25. BHEE(2018F  EEWA) (F&)
INCOME) (continued)
At the end of reporting period, contract liabilities were classified in RIERAR - OB EDIRBAR #ERRERBE
accordance with the expiry date of the maintenance and warranty ’]E’J):‘/%Eﬂﬂﬁ’ﬁ DH o
service contracts entered into.
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Analysed for reporting purpose: ESRERB 2o -
Current liabilities REBE 5,066 3,595
Non-current liabilities FERESEE 102 134
5,168 3,729
BANK BORROWINGS 26. RITHER

The Group had obtained banking facilities in respect of import/export
loans from a bank in Hong Kong. The bank borrowings raised during
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 were fully repaid as at the
end of each reporting period.

The bank borrowings of the Group are arranged at floating rates, thus
exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The average interest
rate of the Group’s bank borrowings during the reporting period are as
follows:

REBBH—RESOBTISEHEE HOERN
RITRE - B E2018F % 2019F 3 A31 HILFER
EEBRITERENEREHRTIEE -

2T BETE AMSASEERIR
REBRRE R RITERNF

o B A0 SR1T (3
SRBFIEER -
BRIENT -

2019 2018

2019 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHET

Import/export loans ®/HO8R 5% 5%
During the reporting periods, the Group’s import/export loans were due /Hj AERRN—FRZIERE

within one year and contain a repayment on demand clause.
The Group’s banking facilities are secured by:

(@) An unlimited guarantee issued by certain subsidiaries within the
Group for the Group’s banking facilities as at 31 March 2018 and
31 March 2019; and

(b) Registered security over deposits of the Company and certain
subsidiaries within the Group to the extent of borrowing
drawdown by the Group as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March
2019.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had undrawn facilities amounted to
approximately HK$5,000,000 (2018: HK$5,000,000).

FHESEEAR AR/ £$2019

AEBERRITRUE B TR IREH

(@ H201843A31HX2019F3A31H » K&
ERETHBARRMAEERTRHEZ HNE
REEER : &

(o) HR2018F3A31 HX2019F 3 331 H » giA

RERAEBENE THEARFHRNEME
o UAREEREDRMERBR o

M2019F3ABIH AEBARERNRELN A
5,000,000 7T (2018 4 : 5,000,00078 7)) °
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27.

28.

134

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$698,000 (2018: HK$988,000) that are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
HK$698,000 (2018: HK$988,000) that will expire in 5 years for offsetting

27. EERIF
MRS EAR - NEE AR E) B RIEE B 45 698,000
77T (20184F : 988,000/87T) + ] A 1EH $H R SR FE 3R
Fishl - RZEBEVERRECHBEE - /AR
KRACHEFRBO AT FERM - AERHIBEBE
698,000 7T (2018 4F : 988,000/ 7t) N A FE RN E
AR SR R FE SR B A o EAb BiIE RSB 0] &

against future taxable profits. Other tax losses may be carried forward MR AR -
indefinitely.
SHARE CAPITAL 28. KA
Number of
shares Amount
BRHEHE &8
Note HK$'000
HfaE FHT
Authorised: SEE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FRREE0.01 7 T L i A%
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 81 H 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share capital SR TE R AN 0 (a) 4,962,000,000 49,620
At 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and H20184F3H31H -
31 March 2019 2018 F 4 A1 B K
20194 3 A 31 H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Number of
shares Amount
RH&E &8
Note HK$’'000
MtaF FHET
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREME0.01 BT TR
At 1 April 2017 R2017F 4 518 2,000 =
Share capitalisation qhN-¥N(d (b) 599,998,000 6,000
Issue of new shares under the share offer 18 & j% {7 38 & 21T A D (c) 200,000,000 2,000
At 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and R2018%F3A31H -
31 March 2019 2018F 4 A1 B R
201943 A31H 800,000,000 8,000

* Represent amount less than HK$1,000

* HEEREAN,0008 7T
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28.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@) On 18 January 2018, written resolutions of the shareholders of the
Company were passed to approve the increase in authorised share capital
of the Company from HK$380,000 to HK$50,000,000 by the creation of
an additional 4,962,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

(b) Pursuant to written resolutions passed by shareholders of the Company
on 18 January 2018, conditional on the share premium account of the
Company being credited as a result of the Listing; the directors of the
Company were authorised to capitalise the sum of HK$5,699,980
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company by
issuing 599,998,000 shares of HK$0.01 each, credited as fully paid at par.

(c) On 14 February 2018, the Company issued 200,000,000 new shares of
HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.35 in relation to the Listing, the premium
on the issue of shares, amounting to approximately HK$68,000,000 was
credited to the Company’s share premium account. These new shares
rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital
structure of the Group comprises all components of shareholders’ equity.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts, redemption of existing
debts or selling assets to reduce debts. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2019
and 2018.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to maintain
its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the
shares. The Group receives a report from the share registrars weekly on
substantial share interests showing the non-public float and it demonstrates
continuing compliance with the 25% limit from the date of the Listing. As of 31
March 2019, 41.75% (2018: 25%) of the shares were in public hands.

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019

28.

B2 ()

(a) 201841 A18H  ARRIRREZEAZRERB -
LA #5485 B AR T (B.0.01 7 7T B9 B89N 4,962,000,000
& AR 15 1% 7N A B 89 7% % IR 7K 68 380,000 7 7T 38 i &
50,000,000 7T °

(0) RIBARQRBRREN 201841 A18 BB EERH
T FAARRMEER FHIEHERE  REAA
FEH BB 17599,998,000 Ik AL E (E 0.01 B T IZ
EEARSIERUZ MR 18N A B R $385,699,980
FBITTEITER -

© 201842 14 H + AARIG IR E®K0.354 T
%+47200,000,000 A% G AR EI B 0.01 BT U FT AR (5 - P&
193417 H03% (B 49 68,000,000 B LT A AN A B AD 5 B
B - ZEHMRNES HTEERA RN ZHREHAT -

AEEEREANBEAREAREFECENEN RER
BACER KRR BRI ABRRFRZFADER - REBWER
B RIERCR R TR ITE -

AEMFEBEFEERNARBFEAAEENRRMESE
BARRE - AEEREERRNKE - BITHREEROE
BUARETHES  BRREEBRBEEENRIBEBS
AP HEEEEARERE - REIE20194F £ 201843 A 31
HIEFE  EXAERNER  BERIUTIEMEFELES -

MW—IMEE AR E AR EERMNARZE D 25% A RFEFRE A
i LB AT R T - AEESRERRNBEER
BELIITHEABERENE AR N ERNHRSE - HERAE
EEE T B ERIFE ST 25% MIREE o HE 201943 A 31
B+ 41.75% (2018 F : 25%) WA RALIHE ©
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

29, ARQFHPEFBARRE

COMPANY
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FaET FAET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR AIRE 22,558 22,458
Current assets REEE
Prepayments BRI HIE 225 709
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BT B A RIFRIE 1,864 92
Bank and cash balances RITRIBE 50,439 56,386
52,528 57,187
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued expenses FEEtE R 11 628
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFEATF BB A RIFUE 3,731 3,302
3,742 3,930
Net current assets REBEEFE 48,786 53,257
NET ASSETS EEFE 71,344 75,715
Capital and reserves EAR &
Share capital A% 8,000 8,000
Reserves B 63,344 67,715
TOTAL EQUITY wRES 71,344 75,715

K2019F 6 A21 A EE S ERIETIE -

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21
June 2019.

Yuen Kwok Wai, Tony Yuen Mei Ling, Pauline
e B {2 I3
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30. RESERVES 30. f#fE
(@) Group (@ A&£H
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are AEBERENSELETFNESELEEBRER
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and Hp2HKGRIEAEREBHRAZ -

other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(b) Company (b) ARHE
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
RPEE MR By 2| st

(note 31(c)(i)) (note 31(c)(v))
(Ht:£31(0))) (H£31(0) (v)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT F#IT
At 1 April 2017 R20176481H - 22,458 (179) 22,279
Share capitalisation (note 28(b)) BRin &AL (faE28(b) (6,000) - - (6,000)
Issue of new shares under BERNEEETIRN
the share offer (note 28(c)) (Hz£28(c)) 68,000 - - 68,000
Cost of issuing new shares BB DB S EITHRO MR A
under the share offer (10,318 - - (10,318)
Total comprehensive income FREEN=EE
for the year - - (6,246) (6,246)
Changes in equity for the year ERERE 51,682 - (6,246) 45,436
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R2018F3A31 AR
2018F4HA1H 51,682 22,458 (6,425) 67,715
Total comprehensive income FREAWRGZERE
for the year - - (4,371) (4,371)
At 31 March 2019 N201953831 B 51,682 22,458 (10,796) 63,344

B s R R E EAIRA F) / 372019 137
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30. RESERVES (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

138

()

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share
and after deduction of capitalisation issue and issuance
costs of shares.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
aggregated amount of share capital, share premium and
capital reserve of subsidiaries comprising the Group at the
date on which Power Truth Holdings Limited (“Power
Truth”), the then holding company of the subsidiaries
comprising the Group, was acquired by the Company,
over the nominal value of 2,000 shares issued by the
Company pursuant to the group reorganisation on 10
November 2015.

Legal reserve

The Macao Commercial Code number 377 requires that
companies incorporated in Macau should set aside a
minimum of 25% of their respective profit after income tax
to the legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches
a level equivalent to 50% of their capital.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 4(b)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus arose from the excess of the
consideration over the nominal value of the 1,000 shares
issued by the Company pursuant to the group
reorganisation on 10 November 2015. The consideration
represented the net asset value of Power Truth as at 30
September 2015.

30. fw#fE (&)
€ MRBENILERRE
0 BRBEE

REFMEHEARE  NRFRNEE
OB AR IR TAR AR - EE
BEEESRRSERE  ARFARRE
NFBER B EEBRED B BMOET

Bt 18 A =R SR D FER B8
BT PELNGE - WELHRE
AT R BT -

(i) BUfEE
AP FEEEASEETHERARTRAR
A AR EE THE A R E R 2R
NABBEERERAR(THE)ERZ
IR BB R EANFEEERE - EK
NEIRE2015F 11 B10BME®EEA
#)2,0000% B 21 TR (5 (B 2 fH) = 8 -

(i) CEERE
RPIREME 377 SR E - ERPIEM
IR RIZERKE BB SRIESETN &
LR BAEERE  EEREER
ETRENERANE0% KT R LE o

SMNEHRE E

INEHE B RIERRE B INEE I
BEMELWAEERZR - FERR
4R A B SRR M AE 4(0)Gil) FTEk A & 5T IR
R o

(iv)

) A&
BARBEFEEBREBHARRRES
B E 4812015411 A10 B /91,000 i%
BEITROEE T - KERABN
2015F 9 B30 AMEEFE -
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31.

32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME 31. BRESE
On 18 January 2018, written resolution of the shareholders of the 20181 180 ' ARRIRREE R ZRE BB
Company was passed to conditionally approve and adopt a share BIEHRE R AT 2 ([BBRRERT &) AK
option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) to recognise and motivate BRAEEERSEEYAEE D EH AR ERD
the contributions that eligible participants have made or may make to =1
the Group.
The Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 18 January RABIR2018F1 A 18 HRMA B EAE 5 EE
2018 will remain in force for a period of ten years from its effective date MHEEZE2028F1 A17 B IEM T FEAB#A A -
to 17 January 2028. Particulars of the Share Option Scheme of the RABERESENFBRNALQF AR R20184F
Company are set out in Appendix IV to the Company’s prospectus 1 A 30 B BAREEHIE%Y o
dated 30 January 2018.
No share option has been granted by the Company under the Share BEMHHEREEREHR AR FBMEREZER
Option Scheme since its effective date and up to the end of the MR B BT R RE AR A o
reporting period.
SUBSIDIARIES 32. WEAH
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 are set ANaEIN B AR 201963 A31 HHEFIEH AT ¢
out below:
Place/date of
incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest  Principal activities and place of operation
A8 BMARYL/RILE/ A EEMRAZRE FEEERASL EEIEBREERE
Direct Indirect
Ei# B
Power Truth British Virgin Islands 1,000 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holding, Hong Kong
28 August 2014 US$1 each
Bz RERAHE 1,000 B R EE 100% - REER FE
20144828 H 1R EER
Prime Intelligence Management  Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% - Inactive, Hong Kong
Company Limited 24 April 2018
ELZLHERERAR Bk 100,000/7C 100% - EER FE
20184 A 248
Solution Expert Technology Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices and
Limited 7 June 1999 security products; and provision of application
software, Hong Kong
EHRRBR AT Bk 1,500,000/ 7 - 100% HELMEEHEHKERRZER
199956 A7H ReRfEmiEs - BB
Solution Expert Engineering Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices and
Limited 9 April 2001 security products; and provision of system
installation, application software and repair and
maintenance services, Hong Kong
ERIRERAA BB 10,00077C - 100% HELMEEHEHIKERRZER
200144 F9R RRHEGRE  EREARER

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019
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32. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

140

Place/date of

32. MEATR (&)

incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest  Principal activities and place of operation
A8 SR RIEH/ B EEMRHAZRE FEREEEA TEEBREXELH
Direct Indirect
Hi# i
Solution Expert Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding; sales of biometrics
Technology (R&D) Limited 30 May 2003 identification devices and security products;
and provision of application software, Hong
Kong
HARERRER EE 1,000,000/ 7T - 100% REER : HEEDBHBHIRER
BRARA 20035 A 30H REER: MRRERRES - 5
Solution Expert Technology Macau MOP25,000 - 100%  Sales and provision of installation and
(Macau) Limited 13 September 2004 maintenance of security and information
technology system, Macau
AR CEM) ERAR P 25,000 2798 - 100% HERRHEZZREARRRRNZE
20049 A13H gE - RM
=R R BB AR PRC, Registered and - 100%  Sales of biometrics identification devices; and
(“SE Shenzhen”) 22 Qctober 2003 paid up capital of provision of application software and related
HK$10,000,000 after-sale services, PRC
HARE ORI ERAR FE B e - 100% HEEWEHENEE  REAERRER
(T&ERRIN ) 2003410 A22R 10,000,000 B RABEEERE - T8

Note: SE Shenzhen is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

Wt . BRARIIB—MER BRI EEE RS -
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 33.

CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table set forth below is the detail changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which

FEREREBRME
METBELREHIR
TRESIAEEREEDFELRES FELD
FRERIFR Y °ﬂ§é@%?$2%@ﬁ$i
BEARSAERBRLRENATASRENES

cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s RERSMERSRECEE -
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
1 April 2018 Cash flows Interest charges 31 March 2019
20184 5 1H Rene FISER  201963A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FTER
Bank borrowings (note 26) aER (Hatoe) - (28) 28 -
1 April 2017 Cash flows Interest charges 31 March 2018
2017F4 A1H ReRE FIEBH  2018%3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THET FET TET FTER
Bank borrowings (note 26) RITIE (H2E26) 1,450 (1,525) 75 -
Finance lease payables ENREHEE 44 (44) - -
1,494 (1,569) 75 -
34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. EXREE
As of 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group did not have any capital HZE2019F % 2018F 3 A31 B * REE WM&
commitments. IEIE o
35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. HAREE
Save for disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, B EEAMERAEMSBEHMEZEEIN KEER
the Group did not have any contingent liabilities at the end of the HE BRI MM K AR E (20184 : ) o
reporting period (2018: Nil).
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PRSI

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3 A3 HILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEHIRS
Save for those transactions or balances of related parties disclosed BEIREMERREMENBENZSHE IR FH L
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the BRON C REENFANEERE B TIERRLS

following material transactions with its related parties during the year.

(@ Transactions with related parties (@) HEEBSINXS
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HizF FHET FAT

Sales of goods to related companies: A BE N B EE R ¢

— Long Yield — B U] 102 100
— SoHo Business Center Limited — SoHo Business Center
(“SoHo”) Limited ([SoHo) (), (i - 1
102 101
Services rendered to related B A mR AR
companies:
— Long VYield — E® 0] 99 90
— SoHo — SoHo (0), (i) 100 130
199 220
Rental expenses paid to a related BN —HEEEQFN
company HeMx
— Global Technology Corporation — EEEEAR AR
Limited (“Global Technology”) (%51 (i), (i 690 900
Notes: BfEE -
0} The pricing of the related party transactions are mutually agreed by 0 MRSz EBHARERBEARAR
the Group and related companies. e
(ii) Mr. Tony Yuen and Ms. Pauline Yuen are able to exercise (i BrEE S 4 R Brse 3w ¥ SoHo A B AE
significant influence over SoHo and Global Technology. REEN -
(b) Key Management Compensation (b) FEEZEEEHN
Key management mainly represents the Company’s directors. FTEEEEFEREARAES - FEHHHE
Their remunerations have been disclosed in note 13(a) to the RERE SRR M 5T 13(0) WIREE -

consolidated financial statements.
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P ISR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE2019F3 A3 HILFE

37.

38.

LEASE COMMITMENTS 37. HEAIE
At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under non- MR2019F3A31 A - REAAFHEEHERNH
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: AREEHAEFIBERENT ¢
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Within one year —F R 1,930 985
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_EFERF(REEEME) 2,601 2,518
4,531 3,503
During the year, operating lease payments represent rentals payable by FA - FEHERBEAEEREETHAERET
the Group for certain of its offices and staff quarters. For the year ended BEREMOES - HE2019F3A3ALFE - M
31 March 2019, leases are negotiated for an average term of 3 years EMFHMEAIF (20184 « 34F) - HHAMAL
(2018: 3 years) and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not RETEBETRESAES -
include contingent rentals.
APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. HWAEMBHRE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2019.

EL BRI EERBRAT / £12019

AT BRERCN2019F6 A1 BEESSHAEN
BRI -
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Four Year Financial Summary

U & B A =

Year ended/As at 31 March
BE=A=+—-RALEE MR=A=+—A

2019 2018 2017 2016
2019 20184 2017 4 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET
OPERATING RESULT REEE
Revenue g 50,878 71,063 63,522 59,065
Cost of sales PERA (25,054) (29,016) (25,505) (23,377)
Gross profit EF 25,824 42,047 38,017 35,688
Other income PN 702 230 94 56
Selling and distribution costs SHE RO AR (5,749) (5,121) (4,826) (3,937)
Administrative and other operating T R B 4 B 52
expenses (21,976) (29,645) (16,715) (15,990)
Profit/(loss) from operation BERF(B5E) (1,199) 7,511 16,715 15,817
Finance costs B RS AR (28) (75) (142) (165)
Profit/(loss) before tax BBATRR S (BE) (1,227) 7,436 16,428 15,652
Income tax expense FrisBiF 2 (259) (3,222) (2,904) (2,603)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRBEF,(BE) (1,486) 4,214 13,524 13,049
Other comprehensive income FREMEEKES
for the year, net of tax: RBE
ltems that may be reclassified to AREEM D EEBRAIER -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BEGINETSRS 2 [E =5
foreign operations (273) 690 (400) (214)
Total comprehensive income AAEEBA
for the year attributable to EiEER
owners of the Company ZHENFEE (1,759) 4,904 13,124 12,835
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Total assets REAE 108,590 111,758 46,871 47,095
Total liabilities wefE (13,695) (12,943) (12,642) (17,990)
Net assets EEFRE 94,895 98,815 34,229 29,105
Equity attributable to owners AAEEBA
of the Company bz 94,895 98,815 34,229 29,105
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